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Bear Stories

Part 2
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List of stories pertaining to unusually scary events I’ve had
Bears:
first year living in Island Park
Bear at the barn Elinor Hess and Glenna South
bear tracks in snow while hauling water from Tom's Creek
Fishing on the Buffalo with Dad..bear follows our tracks
bear in clearing...spotted from kitchen door
bears in Trail CAnyon
Cliff Jensen trees cub
Cliff rolls rocks above Oley Moe’s
Barry hunts with target arrows
sheepherder gets bear...runs into cave... (his wife’s fright)
use head of bear to scare the camp Maureen shoots bear
garbage dump:
Warren’s traps... waiting in the dark Howard Springs, at
the dude ranch dump...bait taken
bear in trap enraged...bullet wound found
bear appears as tree...no tree there
cub treed...mother bear brought to Warren’'s tent
WAITING WITH Dad wounded bears...Hunting for tracks with
Barney at night
Dad gets his bear
dad and his 3 boys get a bear
Warren’s live traps...history and origin...many settings
canabalism at Skinnerville Springs
Gene’s Swede has porch grizzly
bear visits dog house
Charley Simmon‘s trap
01’ Dick becomes bear bait
Dad’s encounter with a strange animal???wolverine ?
Yellowstone:
West Yellowstone grizzlies ..honeymoon..later go with Barry
bears on honeymoon...Jim and cub
Texans sent by Barry see bears in Yellowstone
Dad, Steve, and I at Tower FAlls store...ice cream cone
Canada bears:
Jim at Cache Creek
wolf. . .bear
other bears
bear hunt at Lambert’s place...Lake Francoise
Island Park stories:
Ryberg traps bear...Pond’s smoke bear from cave
bear on Buffalo foot bridge
bear visits Darrow’s tent
bear gets into Stoddard’s cellar
bears rake trailer house at Betty’s cabin site
bear wallows on Black Mt above or near camp B-2
Hare raising stories:
1st moose hunt
refer to some bear stories above, break hare’s leg at barn
fishing at Tom’s Creek until after dark..Burdett, Jim Taylor
moose at night at old mill set...later at Mother’s cabin
sixth sense while hunting deer in Trail Canyon
walking home from Warren’s after dark...bear stories



Moose, elk, and deer Island Park
Mom’s cabin (refer to account with scary stories)
cow moose and calf at Coffee Pot Rapids
cow moose with twin calves on Buffalo while fishing
Ed Ryberg scared by cow on porch
Ed's bravery
moose on Chick Creek road during rutt
mocose on Trail Canyon ridge
mecose at Chick Creek during elk hunt
moose runs to beat ‘37 Ford
moose trio in camp
moose in willow bush...sheepherder’s horse whinnies
wild goose chase for strange sound at Tom’ Cr. meadow
My moose hunt...Barry’s...Al’'s... Alan’s
camper at Warm River by Eccles
Barry and David and VW bug
moose lope away from train at Ripley Butte Road
bull after 1lst snow at stockyards is beligerant
extra large bull on Ripley Butte Road
Glen Alison story
Robertson Wyo story
newspaper picture of pair driven on sulky
woman hospitalized about 1989 near Alpine Wyo on snowshoes
turns on Shirlene’s car on winter highway in Island Park
moose calf on Pond’s lawn
Fred Wardell treed
tracking moose
Jess Reid treed
moose visit horse manger in Oct. also near barn
often seen after 1st snow
moose seen along highway to Wayan from Star Valley
Canadian moose size, at Burn’'s Lake..Gordon McPhie, Lambert
electric fences don’t mix...scale log piles and jack fences
elk on Moon Meadows during war...antlers at springs
Warren rides down coyote
elk enters camp (in the velvet) during the war
bulls cross the railroad tracks
bull crosses the flat just before sunset
bull crosses road day before season opens on road to Pond’s
bulls bugle almost all night at Chick Creek before cpening
bull lays on ridge on Chick Creek road, won’t get up
bull during moose hunt on Black Mt. (Barry)
bulls at Buffalo (Barry)
hunt of ‘55 or ‘56 also deer hunts
deer in Swan Valley
0l1ld Benny
elk on Buffalo ridge with Marj while timber cruising
deer hunt between railroad and Tom Creek flat Camas Meadow
Dad bags Swan Valley deer while tending fire
big one that got away
a long shot...pull 3 down the trail in snow ...tags mixed
catch up in timber on Ripley, Dblaze trail out
see lots of country
Huckleberry Hill’s Monarch.. see Split Creek Falls



BEAE AND OTHER SCARY STORIES WHILE GROWING UF

The first year I went to Island Park to stay over night with
my father, Justin W. Enapp he lived in a bunkhouse at South's
sawmill. The bunkhouse was just next to South’s house. Mrs. South
was cooking for the men. She would come out and call the men in
the bunkhouse. I was told she loved to catch a man in  bed when
she made the second round calling for  them to come to  eat. She
delighted in throwing cold water on them from the well. It was
just a few feet from the front of the bunkhouse. It was a very
cold well. It was fairly deep and always in the shade. The casing
was made of native rough lumber. It extended about 3 1/2 feet
above ground level. It was openj; no lid, just a rope & bucket.

I remember going to breakfast in her kitchen and sitting
around a table. I thought I7d never seen anyone eat or chew their
food as fast as did her husband, Sam South. I was afraid of hery
I guess I thought she was going to throw cold water on me. That
year I was in the first grade at Washington school in Rexbura,
next to the Madison High school. The d4th of July I threw a fire
cracker and it didn’t go off. Finally I went over and picked it
up. It went off. I had a sore thumb for a long time. [ was pretty
scared of fire crackers for a while after that.

The next spring when school was out we moved to Island Fark.
ur family was the first one there. [ remember going with my dad
to the woods. He drove one of South’s cars. I don’t khnow what it
was. It may have been a 4 dr sedan or an 0Olds coupe. Anyway he
went up the winter road near the third crossroads to cut  some
trees. They were probably dry. He had to walk a ways from the car
to some of the trees. It was flat and he was never out of sight.
I got out of the car and started to walk toward him. After I got
there he told me not to leave the car by myself; there might be a
wild animal in the woods...a moose or some other animal. I know I
was pretty nervous after that. Around the mill there was the
railroad and the stockyards. There was a spur at the siding and a
beaverslide for loading poles into gondola cars. It was a natural
place for kids to want to go and play. But I was warned not to go
aff there by myself. I should in defense of my parents say that
they had been in Island Park two full years before I was born and
had known of children being lest. In the woods this was a serious
thing. I'm sure there had been some cases that were very grave.
And so they were being very vcautious with me being there for the
first time and unfamiliar with the woods and area.

I must have gone up the railroad tracks the year before and
across to a nice cabin where the forest ranger lived. I  remember
it had a porch. He had some kids there and Dan  South and  the
other kids of Ren’s khnew them and played with them. This cabin
was gone the year we moved up from Rexburg. The forest service
had a rule of not leaving cabins unoccupied and so it was burned
to the ground during the winter. The well which was in front of
it was still there. It had a galvanized culvert for a casing and
stuck up about 3 feel above the aground. Strange they wouldn’t
have pulled it and considered it a hazard sitting there with no
lid. I remember going there and seeing a dead rock chuck floating

in it.



One day Elinor was playing with Glenna South. They had
walked up by the barn which was about half way between the camp
and the old mill site. There was an old hole near the barn that
had been used to throw away junk and garbage. It wasn’t very deep
but the sides were a little higher because of the dirt that had
been pitched up  on the sides. There was a brown bear there. They
just casuwally noticed it. Later one decided it was a bear and
they came running to camp. Later she said I thought it was just a
big dog. Ruth was at her cabin  when they came running. All the
rest of us kids were playving there. Een had a small log cabin off
to the side of his house for a plavhouse. We all ran in the house
and looked out the kitchen window toward the barn. I doubt that
anyone saw anybhing. Someone might have imagined they saw it but
it’s doubtful they did. But most were little kids and the girls
among them, Donna and GBlenna probably kept the others inside the
house. Ruth left the cabin. She was nervous but she was the brave
mobher. Ren had the car. 8o she walked out away from the cabin to
the south along the edae of the flat  and then up the road until
she came to where the logoing road went into the mill  from the
flat. She told the men at the mill., In a few minutes Barney came
racing inte camp in his coupe to get a rifle from his house. Then
away he drove toward the mill. My dad had left the mill and
walked out past the little burn (several acres adjacent Gto the
sawdust pile where several years before a fire had burned thrug
probably started from a spark from the steam enginel) with a 22
rifle looking for the bear. The burn was grown up Jackpines. The
tallest were 68 feet high. He walked thru it towards the barn
looking for  the bear. After about an hour  the men from the mill
went  back to work. They never saw any sign of the bear. But it
was a story the girls remembered for a long time. And still
vemember as [ do.

That fall when school started Arvch and Clawdia moved down.
They may have gone to Goshen or Fresto. Within a few years they
did live in lower Presto. They were there until Berdett was in
about the 6th grade I believe, and then they moved to Shelley.
Arch was a ditch rider for the canal company. In Shelley he was a
policeman. He becamse the chief of police. After guite a few years
he became sheriff of Bingham County. Euth moved to IL.F.  and took
her kids. Sometimes she would be up at  the mill. aAnd her kids
stayed with Hanna, Ren’'s mother in I.F. There houses were just
across the yard from each other on Ada. Behind and  between the
twi there was a lumber shed. They had a lumber yard there with
rough lumber on hand to sell.

Go I stayed with my folks and didn’t go to school. I played
with Burton South for a while, He was 5. S0 he didn’t have to go
down when the others went to school. Ren hired a cutter, Pat
Enapp, to cut  firy his wife and two older boys, near Al's  age
helped him cut., His wife carried wedges and trimmed limbs. They
had a girl about 4% and I remember she tagged me all aver.

(One night that fall my mother had set some yeast to  make
bread. She cooked in a slab cabin  at the mill site. Our family
ate there. She came up after dark to set or kneed the bread. As
she passed the barn she could hear an animal walking along side
the road in the timber. When she stopped; it stopped. When she’d



walk, it would walk again. A& ways past the barn she called tao our
dad, Jesse! He went to the door. We were in bed. We usually went
to bed with the chickens. We didn’t have a radio, electric lights
and so just went to bed early. He went to meet her. He didn’t
hear anything. As he came toward her she didn’t hear it any more
aither .

When she had the bread taken care of and was ready to go
back to the camp, dad was going to walk part way with her, at
least to the barn. I vemember Al and I got excited, Don’t leave
us. We were in the bedroom of the partitioned cabin. Dad did walk
with her as far as the barn. He stayed there and waited until she
was in the main camp. Then they called to each other and he came
back. One night we heard something rattling things around in the
kitchen., We laid awake unable to sleep. Finally my dad got up,
opened the door and called, Come Tom.!. Come Tom! Soon Tom came.
& big yellow stripped tom cat. It belonged to Al Smith and his
wife, Ruby. Dad let the cat in and came back to bed. In a few
mirutes we heard some pots and pans rattle and dad got up and let
Tom out of the house with its catch, a mouse. Dad was never very
fond of cats, but I'm sure he liked mice even worse.

Later in the fall we moved down fto the camp and into a small
cabin where mother had stayed all summer with the girls, Anna and
Thelma. They'd had friends up from Rexburg to stay throughout the
summer . 5o now we all lived in & one voom cabin. Anna, al, I and
the folks. It had two small windows, one on the west and one on
the south. The door was so short  that the night a birthday party
was held for my Dad, Elmer Snowball, who had eloped and married
Thelma around Labor Day came over from the bunkhouse where they
were living and he bumped his head when he walked thru the
doorway. He laughed and said that felt so good I think 1711 try
it again. MHe turned around and did it again. He was real short
and had gone with the nickmame Snub, since he was a kid. The slab
cabin we had stayed in at the mill during the summer was put on
skids and drug down from the millset near to the little cabin we
slept in. We still used ite kitchen but it was too cold  for
anyone to sleep in during cold weather.

Dhe night my father left the house around 9:00 pm and  went
foor a short walk. He often did this. Maybe to an out house or to
get a fresh cool drink from the well before retiring. Anyway, as
he walked between our cabin and Southfs he saw the light to the
east from flames at the millset. Boon  everyone was up rushing
around. I got to stay up all night that night. We all went to the
mill and some passed water buckets in a brigade from the well. I
suppose some lumber opposite the track from the mill was saved. 1
don’t think much of the carriage was burnsed or the skidway. A fir
log nearly sgquared up was left still sitting on the carriage. A
new mill was purchased and that carriage stayed there for years.

The day before a brand new belft to turn the saw had been
delivered from the valley. It was a wide belt to fit the flywheel
af the engine. I remember the characteristic odor of the belt. It
may have had sulfur in it. It had & yellowish color that turned
powdery when it cooled off.

During the summer I had gotten a small hand saw and hammer
and a few tools. Barney told me he’d pay me if I'd make him a



tool box. I dide I had just finished it and it was in the engine
shed and was burned up in the fire also. It was very late in the
fall when they got the new mill set up and going near the camp.
Fen continued to log and banked logs all  around the edge of the
flat near the mill site.

One night the men went to Fond?’s to get the mail and 1T was
at the bunkhouse where Thelma lived. Anna was there and a boy
that worked for Souths. They were all jJust sitting around talking
when we heard my mobther’s voice calling. Come guick! ann and her
boy friend went rushing out. They ran across a little foobt bridge
over the ditch between the twn cabins. The rest of us followed.
When we got there we found out why she had called. She had heard
footsteps on the road between the grade crossing just south of
her cabin and the railroad tracks. Bhe went out of the cabin and
called out thinking the men had had car trouble and were walking
home on the voad. But  she dicdn’t get an answer. So she got her
flashlight and shined it down fthe road. She couldn’t make
anything out for a little while but then a form appeared in  the
light. It was a bull moose. She was standing on the little road
about 20 feet in front of her door. As the moose walked toward
her she slowly retreated until she stood on the porch of  the
little cabin. The moose advanced toward her until its entive form
was in  the circle of light from her l1ittle flashlight. That's
when she called out  to us so we could come see it. She didn’t
warn anyone to  come quietly and when Ann rushed over the bridge
the moose took off. After I gob there all I could see were two
shiny beads reflecting light from her litkle flashlight. It was
standing near the crossing which was about 60 yds. away. The next
cday the tracks on the road confirmed it all. Mother used to say
after this experience that the steady rhythmic sound of the
hooves reminded her of the night earlier in the fall when an
antimal walked along near her in the dark past the barn.

They had a shower house at the millset. T don’t remember if

it burned or not. The millshed was completely burned. Also a new
steam engine had been purchased and put in place. The old engine,
a Case, was driven out and was sitting of f a little ways to one
side of the millshed. It remained there for many years.
Barney had to rebuild the Bumley twin oylinder engine that went
thru the fire. He had to vepour all the babbit bearings which had
melted and ranm out in the fire onto the ground. The water glass
was melted into a long shape resembling a clear candle; no longer
hollow. Earlier Arch Hess drove the engines when they were
changed. Holes were dug in the ground for  the wheels so the
engines wouldn’t move too muckh  when they were operating. They
would  roock back  and forth even with the wheels buried about a
foot. That was something to see them roll down the road on their
awhn power. Eventually when the Rumley was finally moved after
being replaced by a diesel it was towed, probably by a Cat to a
small clearing north of Barney’s cabin. It was an imposing thing
sitting there for many years. In winter its silhouwette changed
with drooping snow and made for picture taking deliaht.

After the mill was running and shnow came the water in the
wells dropped so that water had to be hauled from Tom’s Creek to
the mill for the engine. Elmer Snowball drove a team and hauled



water. I rode with him sometimes. One day he pointed out same
bear tracks in the snow near the creek. The creek was just one
mile north of the siding. I don’t know of anyonse going to track
the bear. Probably they were all too busy to bother with it.

One day some men were cutbing down ftrees for wood. One was
chopping up  along the railroad right-of-way near where the old
ranger station had been. We were watching and Anna said, look you
can see the ax hit the tree and then later you can hear the sound
of the ax. The last log was sawed late in Dec. so they decided to
remain there until after Christmas. I got to go goose hunting.
Dad took a team and I guess a sleigh. We went up a timber road
toward Tom’s Creek  and came out on the Moon Meadow. The snow was
nearly up to  the horses kneses. As we crossed the meadow I
remember there was wabter under the snow. It was standing in the
tracks of the horses after each step, yet the bob sleigh didn't
break through the snow. The snow was above water on  the meadow.
Dad tied the team near the creek. I don’t remember which horses
Dad had borrowed that day. I believe Gene Jones was along with
someone else. They took their shobtguns and went off a different
direction than Dad and Al. There was quite a bit of standing
timber between the creek and the meadow, yet the creek was only a
few hundred yards from where the team was tied. 81 and Dad went
aff with their shotguns through the timber expecting to drop in
onto  the creek at a different place. One thing that made it
difficult hunting was that the creek wasn’t sunken in a channel
and you could see the water from about a hundred yards on either
side of the banks. 80 a goose sitting on the water would have its
head higher than the streambank. Slipping up on geese undetected
was almost  impossible even with the cover of timber along the
banks. While they were gone some honkers flew right over the
sleigh where mother and I were sitting. 1 just knew if only I['d
had a gun I could have got them. Al and Dad did get a goose,
maybhe two. Al had to run one of them down in the snow along the
bark.The guys at the mill had told dad, you’ll rnever get a goose
in the daybtime. It fell and started vunning off into the woods.
He chased after it. It turned toward him when he got close to it
sa he took its head off. ¢ I thinkd) Leaving Island Park that year
will be in a separate story.

Sometime at  the mill near the time of this goose hunting
trip some of the men were shooting shotguns. They used to do that
in the road in front of Barney’s house. They?d throw up cans and
target practice. Well Gene Jones had an B gauge. That is a
pretty big shotgun! And he may have dipped the barvel into the
show a little bit and when he took one shot it knocked him down.
Everyohne knew that it had a lot of kick even regularly. I wou
knew Gene you would khow he got up laughing about his bad luck.

One summer while Dad was working at the temple he went up to
Island Park fishing on the Buffalo River. I, Warren and Carol
went along. There was an the old dugway, a steep rocky pitch,
that went down from the main road at the top of a high ridge
where Dad used to like to hit the river. The rocks were boulders
mostly buried. The erocding soil from runoffs coursed around thedr
edges causing them to be even more exposed and larger. Not  all
cares could go over this road. At the bottom there was plenty of



room to turn a car around. Along the voad from the Tom®s Creek
bridge to the dugway deep ruts in some places could cause a car
to high center, especially a low car. We always watched carefully
for stumps that might stick up, being hidden by the tall timber
grass or little huckleberry bushes along the road and in the
center of the road. This stretch of road was also very sidling in
places, especially coming up the hill from Tow's Creek. The road
was just simply two tracks through the timber. It was the same
road my father had used with his teams and wagons when Warren was
a boy. Roads made with wagons before cars or btrucks were ever
used in the woods.

Warren and Carol fished downstream. Dad and I fished up

stream. About a quarter of a mile up there was a bend. Just
before the bend was a little island with a few trees on it. In
the spring of the year we always saw a lot of bear sign along the
road to the river. 0ld stumps and logs were freshly torn  open by
bears attempting to  find arub worms. We fished up perhaps a
mile and back down. Dad finished cleaning his fish near the edge
of the stream by a windfall. Warren wasn’t back yet eo Dad said,
I guess 1711 fish up to the bend once move.
In a few minutes he came back and said, I think there is a bear
up there. He had heard a lot of noise just behind him along the
bank in the timber. AL first he thought some elk had been spooked
and  ran. But when the noise didn't go away he figured it was
maybe a bear tearing up stumps or logs. He was right. It wasn’t
long before we looked up and saw a rather small black bear
walking with its head down as if following his tracks along the
tall arass on the island., I asked. Do you think he?ll come after
us?  About  then it Jumped into the river. There was a haole in
front of the island. It came out on the other side of the channel
where the water is shallow and continued onto the bank of a steep
hillside where it disappeared in the trees going away from us.

In a little while Warren and CAral returned. We made it up
aver the rooks out of there and back to Tom's Creek. Going down
to Tom’s Creek the road is very steep and sidling. & deep wash
eroded down  the middle of the road forced a driver to hug the
upper side of the road next to the trees and their roots in order
to keep the wheels on the lower side from getting into the bottom
aof the wash. You actually had to drive faster going up than down
in  order to keep from stalling the engine. The 36 Chev had a 3
spead.

The Tom's Creek bridge was rickety. Often my Dad would get
out and wallk over it before driving over it. He sometimes had to
move some of the 12' planks +that stretched across the poles
laying crossways on  the bridge stringers. Many were so old that
they were broken and rotted and you could see through the holes
down into the water about a foot below your feet. Each year it
seemed to get worse. Eventually someone did some work on itj
putting some new poles which lasted another 10-13  years.

It was a vlear stream with a white sandy bottom. A 1ot of
water cress grew in the stream above the bridge to the large
apring where the water gushed and gurgled from the foot of the
mountain.  It's amazing so much water comes from a single spring.



(ne year, in early spring, when Gene had his mill up Split
Creek, after eating supper I stepped out onto the porch and in
the little clearing to the north I saw a brown bear. It was about
70 yds. 1 stepped back into the kitchen and said to Barney. GHet
your  gun if you  want to shoot a bear. Every ohe was surprised,
hut kept quiet. BRarney knew I wasn’t kidding so he jumped up. In
an instant he grabbed hig 300 Savage off the nails above the
doorway. He had a shell in it before yvou could say Skat! He took
a rest on the post of the porch. He zerced in with his scope.
One shot rang out. No one could see anybhing of the bear. We
walked out cautiously making sure no one got ahead of Barney
carryving his rifle. After we gob near where it had been we still
couldn’t see it. Me was sure he hadn’t missed. We thought we
might have %o start tracking. About then someone saw it lying
just over an old rotten log. He waited a little while making
sure it was dead then went up to it. It was not the right season
of the year for a hide to be prime. It wasn’t very big since a
single rotted windfall hid it from view.

Some parents werse concernsd that a bear had come into camp.
We all decided it must have been a park bear. Later we found its
tracks near the cabin where I had my basketball hoop set up over
my corral. There was a small garbage pit there that the Swede '01
John Olds used. Here John found its tracks. An ald part Collie
dog  had been laying on his porch  the entire time undisturbed. A
Mrs. Whiting from Springville, Ut. came over from Gene's camp and
said, Oh the poor thing it’s just a baby. Well, a few years later
after she found she was sharing a huckleberry patch with a bear
up 8plit Creek and she came out huffing and puffing and minus her
bucket of berries, she changed her story about poor little bears.

During all the years I spent growing up in Island Fark
country I never saw a bear in  the woods. I never saw a bear
while I was hunting. One time Al and Barney were out hunting and
they saw somebhing black standing so motionless they finally
decided it was a blackened stump. Moments later it was gone. It
had a been a bear. We always figured if we saw a bear it was one
from the park (Yellowstone) since the native bears seemed w0
fearful of people they did not stick arcund to let you see them.

After I returned from the Army in 1935 I was riding down
Trail GDanyon  in a  truck with a load of logs for the mill one
afternoon whern suddenly out of the brush at the side of the road
went a cub bear tearing down the road. The dust flew behind it.
It traveled faster than we were going. After staying on the road
a brief distance maybe 78 yards it left the road on  the opposite
side from which it had come near a bend in the road and raced on

out of sight into the woods. It was exciting to us. It was so
urnusual to see a bear. We usually told people that fearfully
inquired about bears that chances are i they saw one in the
woods it would be running to get out of sight. This certainly

was the case this day. This remains to this day very vivid in my
memory. Although it was not a graded well worn road with each
Jump puffs of dust rose from the road as this little bear went
rocketing down the road and out of sight.

The place was where an old well had been located in  the
canyon years before. At the head of a ridge where two draws came



together the grass was taller than most places in the canyon and
greener . Tall Timothy grass there was evidence the ground was
more moist than most places in the canyon. Just below a few
willows and aspens along the low side of the road made a special
place for sighting Willow Grouse. Not far below there was a
special tree. A balsam fir, which caught my father’s eye. One
fall we drove up there in the 41 DeSoto and dug it up and placed
it in a box and hauled it to Idaho Falls where we transplanted it
into his backyard. The next year many beautiful fireweed plants
sprung up and bloomed in the grassy soil surrounding its roots.

One day I went up the canyon with Barry and David in  the
army truck (six X six). We passed this same place and within a
mile of this place where another draw takes off to the south east
and where the road above forks, one going o Twin Cabing and
Section Hix, the other up the little rocky dugway to Huckleberry
Hill and over to Betty's cabin, we saw a large black bear. He
ambled across the road very unconcerned about us. He acted aloof
and wary but not frightened. I was next to the door. One of the
boys was driving. I put my arm out the window and pounded on the
side of the door. We honked the horn and shouted. We even got
brave enocugh to open the door but he just stood and watched until
he was perhaps bored with us and slowly went off down the draw
which was filled with windfalls. We felt for certain this bear
was from the park. Had we a gun we wauld probably gotten a bear
rug that day. That was an unusual summer seeing those bears out
in the woods.

Ferhaps a few years before or possibly later one of the
fellows that used to cut and haul cellar timber and slabs from
the mill, Cliff Jensen from Shelley was coming down Trail Canyon
and about in this same area saw a sow and her cub. He had no gun.
He did have a little part tervier dog of some kind that he got
from Steve Knapp a few years before. He got ocut of his truck and
was going to tree the cub and did. But the mama bear kept coming
around and interfering with his activities with the cub. At this
point the dog he called Keeker, would come o his aid by rushing
the she bear. This would distract her and she would go off after
the dog momentarily while he would rush  the cub and keep 1t in
the tree. This went on for some time wuntil he decided it was
futile and got in his truck, called off the dog and left. He was
always good for a good story.

One time C1iff was up on Gene's road above Split Creek and
he left his jeep and walked less than 30 yds. to the top of a
narrow ridge. On the other side it was real steep down toward the
south. The draw would probably have gone into the Split Creek
canyon. He decided it would be a good place to roll some rocks.
So he did. After a big rock went crashing down he said there was
a great deal of commotion and roaring and growling came up from
below., I think he rolled some more after that. T can’t believe
he would have stopped the show.

Barney had some cutters up on his state section one year we
called the GlI's. They were two single guys in their 30%'s. We
were cutting and hauling up a dugway Barney had Gene cut with his
bulldozer into a deep draw that ran into Split Creek across from
Betty’s cabin., WE used to see a tree in the bottom near the head



of the draw that had the bark peeled by bears. It was about &Y
in diameter at breast height. One day these cubtters were sitting
eating their lunch when they heard a commobtion. They looked up to
gee  a black bear @streaking past. Mot far behind came another
bear which later was thought to be a grizzly. Not particularly
big and it didn’t seem that neither of the bears paid any
attention to the guys sitting quietly eating their lunch.

Gene bullt  small bunk houses out of the eight  foot lumber
that came off his ties. Bo the roofs were two layers of rough
lumber with tar paper between. The boards made the width of the
building with a little save on sach side. This made them narrow
enough to be  loaded and hauled on his logging trucks. He used
flat beds for ties on some trucks and on others two rails length
wise for unsawed logs. He hauwled this cabin wup over the top of
his last dugway for a Swede that cut there. The walls were double
boards on studs with sawdust between for insulation. There may
have been sawdust between the ceiling and the rvoof on some  of
them. The roof was slightly bowed with the center being 49-& "
higher than the sides. This Swede woke up one morning and
started ocutside. When he opened the door a young Silvertip was
atanding to greet him on the small porch. He politely closed the
door and remained inside for some time. Later he venbured out
and never saw anvbthing more of Mr. Bruin.

One day (when I was in high school) I went to the woods
with the fteam and wagon driving 0Old EBally and Nig. Warren and
Barney had gone up earlier that morning and were cutting some cry
stuff probably for a cellar. When I arrived they were eating
their lunch. They didn’t  let on anything was different but I
finally got up to the box behind the cab of the truck and there
wrapped up  saome bear hides. When they pulled into this place
they made a turnaround and I stopped the team just behind the
trailer bunk. I touched the bear hides and walked back and held
my hand out to Bally to smell. He took a big breath and came
alive. His nostrils extended and he began to snort. Warrven said
youlre lucky he didn’t come up with both front feetb.

They told this story. They agot there, got out of the truck
and started to look for some dead trees to start falling when
they spotted tws cubs. About  that fime the cubs took to the
trees. Warrven said one of the ocubs went up a lodgepole with few
limbs bounding as fast as a man could vun along the ground. After
they saw the bears Warren got out his six-shooter, a Bmith-Wesson
32 Special and began hlazing away. They looked around and saw
the head of a bear peering over a windfall. But as soon as they
paid any attention to ity it ran off aways but kept coming back.
They ended up shooting the cubs out of the trees and also the old
bear. Her teeth were badly worn and she was in poor condition,
For years after that Warren told how the meat from the cubs was

as  hice and tender as chicken., He became a confirmed lover of
bear meat and rendered the fat and bragged about how good 1t was
for cooking, water-proofing shoes, etc. He once told Dad that he

wanled trade an elk for a bear anytime. I never did see him Lturn
down an alk, however. :

After returning from my mission in Taiwan in November of &0
Barry left soon on his mission to La/Texas., I was told of a trip



he made the summer before up over the ridge between Trail Canyon
and Split Creek. Some of the timber there is mixed growth with
variows density of jackpines. Earry had a bow and some target
arrows they had played around with for several years. On this day
he saw a bear in a stand of pine which was fairly open. He pulled
the string and let fly with an arrow at the bear broadside to
him. The arrow stuck into the tree just over the bear's back.
The bear looked at him and bared its teeth and growled. It
moseyed of f and I suppose he rebtrieved his arrow. It was always
thought to be pretty gutsie. Grandpa Enapp loved telling of it.

A Bheepman came into Island Fark from Lyman, a small place
west of Rexburg and a little south named Ariel Peterson. He had a
herder named Bert Miller from South Carolina. They had been in
Idaho for gquite a few years. Bert was around 45 yrs. old when we
first met him. FEach yvear he would come across from Dubois or the
desert west of Rexburg with the herds in the spring after lambing
ot the desert then he would move over the range belween the
railroad and the highway to Yellowstone until time to ship lambs
in the fall. Then they would trail back out below the Island FPark
Reservoir to the desert and toward Hamer and Spencer.

His wife, SBusie was a character. Bhe was with him nost of
the time. She rode along his side, but in later years not as
much. They had at least one son, Keebler, that came to see them
oocasional ly. Their accents were intriguing to us. I remember
the first time we visited him and Barry was little; he referred
to him as cotton-top since he was blonde when a  kid. He usually
had a camp across the flat ' from the mill and several places set
up for camps hnearby. He was requived by the forest service to
move camp after a certain number of days. One camp he used was
next to the railroad stockyards. They used it when shipping
lambs by vail. It was a real change for him to camp there. He
could put the sheep in the corral at night and sleep well knowing
that no  coyotes or bears would bother. He hauled water from
Tom’s Creek sometimes with a wagon with a large cast iron tank on
it. When near the creek he trailed the sheep to water.

Over the yvears he had his share of bear problems. He usually
figured on dry years the bears were more of a problem since feed
was more scarce. One year he lost  some sheep over hear Cub Creek
which was on the way to Ponds. There was a little flat with
sagebrush nearly a mile from the highway. Just - before that flat
there was a big lava outcropping. In the spring there was enough

water that a culvert had been installed under the road. It was
not a stream but a dried up water hole. S0 Warren made what he
called a Vee trap out of logs. He fastened the ends by

alternately crossing  them on the back of the tree. The front Vee
shape acted like a channel. The logs were stacked high enough to
encourage the bear to walk in between the logs up into the Vee
rather than climb over the sides. Part of an old carcass of one
of the kills served as the bait. The older and stronger the scent
the better it supposedly attracted the bears.

The herder sent word one day that a bear was in  the trap.
Warren took Maureen with him. We walked wup close and observed
that the bear was securely held by a fore leg. He had a 20/30
Winchester and he told Maureen to shoot it in the eye so it would



not spoil the hide. She made a good shot. Only one was needed.

One vear Warven was living in his walled up tent at the site
of the old ranger station at the Island Park Siding when some
fellows came up from FPineview asking if he wanted a bear. They
said they had shot a sow. Later they brought the bear and dropped
it off. Their story was that they ran into a bear and her cub and
decided to catch the cub  alive. The sow was in a trap by a hind
leg. They didn’t want to shoot her for fear the cub might run off
so the climbed after the cub. A man with leather gloves went into
a tree with a 1ot of heavy branches and finally did get the cub.
We don’t know how much he may have been scratoched, bitten or
clawed. They never said.

When Warren dressed the bear to his amazement she had thrown
her self against the trap with such force and furvy that she had
pulled the ball from the socket of her hip. Only the hide held
her from charging after the captors of her cub. After the cub was
caught they shot her never knowing how near she might have come
from tearing herself loose. This bear hanging dressed from a
gamble in a tree did have the resemblance of a human form except
the muscularity was so much more than a man. The man who brought
the bear was the son of a fellow that used to haul wood and get
cellar timber out and haul it down to the valley. Some of these
ol guys we called woodticks., His last name was Freston.

One time Susie was out with Bert in  the thick timber and
brushy area around RBipley Butte trying to herd up some sheep that
had been badly scattered. Although Bert had been in and thru
that area more than anyone we knew he readily admitted it was one
of the worst places to get lost he'd ever been. ODne time a writer
for a national sportsman magazine (maybe Outdoor Life) wrote an
article and explained that area was one of the worst on the
contiment to get lost. Most places have draws, roads or streams
where a lost huater can follow to get out. Here it is  just one
outcropping of lava after another with small stands or pockets of
lodgepole and  brush  and gquakers. Othesr than the butte being
higher than the swrounding area it all slopes here  and there
with no pattern other tham just like the last place you saw. It
is rolling. Since some clear cubtbting has been done in recent
years this is very evident.

Anyway, bthey were out horseback and the dogs picked up the
trail of a bear. Bert left Susie holding the horses and hurried
aof f following the sound of the dogs with his rifle. He often
carvied a 45 on his hip. While he and the dogs were chasing the
bear two cubs became separated from  her. They became so
frightened of the dogs that they ran around and came back to
where Susie was holding the horses. Just small, the cubs van up
to her. Later Bert, theorized they ran to her for protection from
the dogs. Well Bert practically broke his neck getting to Susie
when he heard her screams. Bhe was frantically trying to keep a
distance between her and the ocubs. 8She did suffer a nervous
breakdown and left Island Fark for a while. In the winters they
gpent some  time in  Rexburg. He spent time talking in  the pool
halls. He was pot a drinking man. They professed to be southern
Baptists. They were good ol? folks and she enjoyed occasionally
going into Mar jorvie’s house and seeing something besides a sheep



camp. At least once a week someone brought supplies into their
camp from the valley. There were several Felterson boys old enough
to help their dad run his operation.

Bert shot a bear one time while out with the sheep and
wounded it. It may have been this bear, but I doubt it since I
dontt think any cubs were involved. But the bear ran and he was
able to follow it with the dogs. It came to a fairly large rock
outcropping and disappeared. Bert hunted around guite a while
and then to his surprise discovered the bear had fallen down thru
gome rocks into a hole. He came and told us at the mill. Some of
us went down and saw it.  The bear was 6-8 feet below the surface
in what looked like just a hole into the lava rocks. I don't know
if the bear was taken out or not. It seems like we went back the
next year and found no sign of bones or other remains.

Then the kids and maybe Barney entered and discovered a cave
there. Eventually several explorations were made. One by Explorer
scouts in the winter. 0On one trip they were in the cave and
discovered bright shiny eyes piercing the dark from tGtheir
flashlight beams. They were relieved when it turned out to be
only a porcupine. On another occasion at the back of the cave
they discovered by digging thru smooth sand near the top there
was a second cavern which they dug into. I don®t know to what
exbent they were able to penstrate that room. Some have wanted to
go back. Today since all the clear cutting and road changes I
doubt I could find it, unless by making a grid and coming the
area it could be recognized. It should be within a mile or 1 &
1/2 miles of the old railroad bed west of the track at the south
end of the Island Park flat. When the railroad was built they
dug fill for the bed from the sandy soil along the right-of-way
making two permanent ponds. They would be full in the early
spring from sub. By end of summer they would be dried up. But
there were willows on the edges and all the little aguatic
animals and many plants that normally grow in areas of sub. in
the wetter areas in Island Park. 8o it could be found with a
good search, but it might take some time and hiking.

There is another part of a bear story involving a bear that
Bert shot in that area. The head was cut off and brought to the
mill. Mere several of us wired the lips open showing the teeth
and fangs. Then with one person on  each side carrying it by an
ear its head could be held about ground level into a doorway, a
tent flap, or up to a window of a cabin. It was fun for a while
and most of those that were scared with it joined in to do the
same to others once they discovered what was going on.

adfter dark some decided to take it to Split Creek to the
camp there and try it on the crews that stayed there in tents and
shacks. At Gene’s cabin before leaving the camp however, someone
held it at his kitchen window. Glenna had Jjust had a kid go to
the outhouse. Her first thought was her kid was oubtside when she
saw this head in the kitchen window. Wisely someone had wallked
into their cabin beforehand and stood near the door where Gene's
06 hung over  the door. Gene did move quickly toward it when the
first sign of fright appeared in the cabin.

Thinking back about this over the years it was a pretty
cruel thing to do. A little kid might have that impression on



their mind for a long time. &nd  when you have to go out to an
authouse, especially at night it could be scary for years.

Gene had a young man working for  him that came over from
Evanston, Wyo. Luke Limb. (Limm) He was a sort of daring
character. He loved +to play chicken on the voad to FPond®’s with
any obther driver that would play. He could make Berdebt take to
the shoulder and I think anyone else with a lick of sense. He
just had to go to Split Creek. We arvived late, arocund 10:00 pm
We stopped at the top of the dugway and turned off  the
headlights. WE could hear talking below. WE left the car and
walked down to where we could see and hear what was going on. One
fellow had just moved up in an old schoosl bus. The single fellows
there were in his bus playving cards.

While waiting at the top of the dugway we were out on the
car on the road. It's a long ways down to the creek. It is broad
across the canyon to the other side. Also  the south fork of the
creek joins the canyon about half a mile below where we were. If
ig about as wild of country as Island Park has to offer. While we
were waiting there we heard this mournful sound. It was the most
wailing sound I7ve ever heard in the woods. It seemed so far away
and so lonesome. It continued to call and call. It was not a howl
and it was hard to imagine what animal in Island Park would make
such a cry. I was glad I was not alonea

Finally we coasted down near the camp with the lights off.
We watoched as the card game ended and people left for their own
tents and cabins. Berdett’s friend Jim walked to his shack. After
a few minutes we followed him. He had his cabin door slightly
apen. There was enough moonlight  we could see inside. He was
holding a kitten in his arms, Some tried to get over to the door
while others watched thru a window. All was quielt. Suddenly the
deovzy  slammed shut as he kicked it. Then he started talking,
alright you guys. His voice was shaky and unsure. He caught a
glance of someone with a white tee shirt move. But still no
sounds had been made. Then RBerdett started to lauwgh. And Jim came
out and admitted he’d been pretty spooked.

o then he had to be in on getting someone else.

We went to the bus where the lights were now oub. We scratohed
on the side of the bus with a stick. The guy didn’t get very
gxcited and seemed to be suspiciouws and nothing veally happened
so we went on to a tent. A young man had come up just a day or
two before and was sleeping in a small tent in a sleeping bag.
While one held the tent flap open Luke eased the head thru the
flap by one ear and I had the other ear. Homeone scratched on
the side of the tent and a wvoice started asking, Who's there?
What are you doing? No one made a sound other than more stick
secratching. Finally he pulled a flashlight and turned it on in
the divection of the tent flap. He was lying on his back. There
within touching distance of the flashlight was that ugly head
with teeth bared. What a thing to wake up to? He let out a var
wWhoop ! It was followed by laughter by those standing back
waiting. The poor guy didn®t  come out of the tent. Charley
Whiting came out of his shack and said. You guys should be
careful, he might have a gun. Luke said if hefd had a gun he was
too scared to use it. All  the way home we laughed about the way



di fferent people had responded. Later we found out that the first
place we tried the guy was maybe as scared as anyone but he
dicdn’t let on. He was very silent but he was caloulating what he
would do if the bear bothered a window or a door. His name was
Murcey, ¢ I think GBene was his first name) from I.F. and he drove
one of fGene’s 6 % &6's.

I have long since repented in my heart of that last tent. It
was cruel. I wouldn't have blamed him if after he was over being
initially scared in his normal mind he might have been justified
to come back with a gun and start shooting. I wouldn?t  do it
again. It was Jjust too harsh. I don’t think the kid stayed out
the week. That®s shameful. It’s over; I won’t ever do it again.

Charley Simmons was a sheepman that lived in Island Fark for
as long as I can remember. He had a nice summer home type log
cabin on the Buffalo River near the railroad bridge about 2 miles
wp river from  Fond®s Lodge. The Buffalo River bridge over the
railvmad was about 2 miles north of the Tom's Ureek bridge which
was a mile north of the mill. He used to come for help at the
mill. He would get Barney +to let him  take a team and wagon to
move or haul something and then I'd go along to drive or I would
go with a skid horse to snake some poles out of a patch for him.

Charley told me how to build a bear trap. You build a small
log building. It has to be narrow and low to the ground so that
a bear once inside cannot raise uwp or turn around. Then the
entrance has to have orne large log at the entrance which the bear
must step over to enter. But after the hind legs are in the idea
that makes it work is the supposed fact that the bear will not
Lift its hind legs high enough to back over the log. 8o as long
as there isn’t enough room to turn  around the bear will not come
aut ., It sounds strange. It would be fun to see or know if It is
so.  Charley used to have some problems with predators. Once on a
meadow east of the railroad tracks where he kept his bucks in the
summer he lost some sheep from being bitten on the necks and he
never did discover what kind of animal was responsible.

One summer Warren lived in a trailer just north of Tom's
Creelk near the edge of the big meadow between the creek and the
Buffalo River where Charlie’s buildings were located. Carol and
the 3 children were there. That summer Warren rode all the way
to Island Fark horseback from Goshen. It took him 9 days. He had
a bay colt, maybe 2 or & years old among his string of maybe 3
horses. He rode his stallion, Tarzan, his mother, Birdie ( a
little mare he traded a 12 gauge Westernfield shotgun for when he
left the ranch at Armstead, Mont.? when he left there and came
back to Goshen. He had several other horses. One may have been
called Btoney. dnyway I remember the day he showed up at the mill
and I got to go down to Eccles Siding and  there he picked up 3
horses he had left there. They were tired and sore-footed. I got
to ricde back to the mill from Eccles on Birdie. I remember she
was rnot  a fast walker smo she would poke along and them jog to
catoh up every once in a while. I dontt know which horse Carol
rode on that trip, maybe Stoney, but she told me not to make RBird
jog to  catch up  because she was tired. That didn’t  seem very
consistent to me since it was  the horse that walked slow, I
wast't trying to make her hurry except I didn't want to  fall



behind. Bome of Warren’s kids, his oldest girl, Maureen was there
on one of the horses or riding with either Carol or Warren.

A&t the sawnill he rested. At  least for a day. He put shoes
on the bay colt which belonged to Unsworths, Carol’s folks. The
colt was so sore and tired it never stood up the entire time he
was shoeing it...all four feet. He trailer them on up to Simmons
ranch. That summer he took Dudes nut  riding. He didn’t use any
pack horses. He took some grown young women, two sisters I think
from California. One at least, to the upper forks of Split Creek
with a pichnic lunch. I remember he had a photo of their lunch
site. There was a blanket spread out in the grass along the creek
bed at a level place and two moose were in the background of the
picture. The girl was a Glazman. Her parents spent a lot of time
at Fondfs Lodge where they had a nice summer home down on the
bend of the Buffalo River Jjust below the highway bridge. Her
parents fished a lot. I remember one of Warren's stories was
that one time Mrs. Glazman was fishing and & moose came along.
She said later, I didn’t know I could climb a tree but I did.

Warren used to live at Tautphaus Fark in his trailer. The
night Steve was born I stayed there with his girls. I think Al
stayed there also. They had a place with cupboard doors beneath
the bunkbed in the trailer. They walled it the cubby hole. WE
slept in it. Warren’s trailer was parked near one of two large
stables at the park. Inside the barns were box stalls. Race
horses were kept there in the winter of f-season  for  the
California tracks. Some of the well to do people in I.F. in
those days lived near the park in mansions. The had race horses
and kept horses there. The would be exercised on the 1/2 mile
track. There was a grandstand with a covered section and the
annual War Bonnet Rodeo was held there sach August.

Warren ran a riding stable. They referred to it as a riding
academy. Warren kept several horses in  it. Birdie was one of
them and Carol considered Birdie as her horse and I guess the
money they twook in from Birdie Carol kept as her own. I think one
time she stated she had taken in $4.00 a day from her horse.

Warren was in some sort of a partnership there. He also may
have worked cleaning stables and caring for some of the horses of
the rich people there. He used to play polo. I remember he had a
polo mallet around for guite a few years after he left there. He
had this gelding, dark brown or black that he called Stoney, that
he leased out. People paid by the hour to ride. And sometimes
they had trouble with some running their horses after they got
out away from the barns. This always made them unhappy. Al liked
this horse, Stoney and I remember he talked about him a lot.

Before going to the park, Warrven lived several years in
Jameston south of I.F. One spring Al went to stay with Warren and
Carol when they lived in Jameston., He came home telling about all
of these harses Warrren had. Warren raised Tarzan up to about a
2-3 yr. old. He was perhaps Birvrdie’s first colt. His father was a
richly colored palomino called Silver. Warren used to carry a
picture of him in a belt buckle with a ring the size of a silver
dollar. Warren worked for some people there with farms. And he
knew and respected a guy named Arave. He was a scout master for
a while. He worked for a Cox also. This man later moved tao our



ward in I.F. and Arave was in the temple presidency gquite a few
vears later. He used to  tell our mother what a good guy Warren
was and mom was pleased knowing Warren had a great deal of
raspect for Arave. He was a person she admired also.

Warren used to spins some yvarns about his days in Jameston
driving the school bus, which was a sheep camp over a bob sleigh
pulled by a team of horses. It had a stove in it. He always

talked about a horse named Snip which he broke and drove when he
worked there. He taught it some tricks including, teetering on a
board. He told how good it was to pull al sow

Mow what has this to do with bears. 0On the Bimmons place he
could hobble and turn out his string of ponies. They could be
caught with grain. Tarzan the stud, probably brought them in, in
the mornings a lot when he came for grain. I'm sure he was sort
of a pet. You wouldn’t have had to gone looking for him. He would
come  to you. Warren had ridden Tarzan thru the park or zoo past
the cages. They had bears in a vock cage. They could go in and
out of a den there. & tree cemented in the center next to a pool
allowed the bears to climb around. It was forked and they could
climb  around in the heavy forks. Warren rvrode past often  and
Tarzan paid no attention to the bears. After being in Island
Fark turned out for a summer, Warren one day in the winter rode
Tarzan past the bears rcage as he'd done when he lived there and
the horse nearly went crazy at the sight of the bears. Warren
figured he must have had some contacts in Island Fark that summer
to show him respect for bears. For a couple of years during the
war, "43-48 perhaps Warven took Tarzan and Bird to Simmons ranch
and turned them cut. He was divorced at this time. He didn’t have
money to buy hay and he would sell or get rid of them, The fences
must have been pretty good to hold  them, although Charley'’s
ferices never seemed or looked good €0 me. I would not  have
thought they would have contained a stallion. Occasionally
Warren would ride the train up and get off and check on them and
take his fishing pole along. He would flag down the train and
come back with a mess of fish., He was the only one in our family
that ever had a fishing creel.

During the war with gas rationed and young men off to war
the Moon Meadow ranch was abandoned. The grass grew tall and
headed out. No wild hay was cut (Timothy and Redtop) It wasn't
grazed. The elk took aver and becams gquite numerous not being
disturbed by livestock or people. Fishermen weren’t as plentiful
either as before gasoline and tires were rationed.

This year we met for the first time some people that came up
from Rigby. Dave Jones came up and brought cattle. They leased
grazing from the government and maybe some sheepmen. Another man
from REigby arsa was Vern DCrystal. I remember Dad and I were up
for a short time one summer. Dad praobably did some sawing for
Sam South. Dave Stoddard, a brother—in—law to Al Smith had the
skidway loaded with nice dry logs that he wanted sawed. He built
a 1ot of spud cellars in the valley. He lived in Rexburg and he

and his boys build a lot of spud cellars each year. They had
logged several weeks. I remember my dad exclaiming about how high
the logs were decked above the mill shed. Dave had to help

getting them off the pile and down onto  the carrviage one at a




time w0 they didn’t all come at once and bury the carriage or
track. We lived there for a while in one of the cabins, maybe
the bunk house or the slab cabin that had been moved from the
millsite that burned down. But anyway this Vern Crystal came and
asked about Warren'’s horses. He came up with his wife in a
little Chev or Ford 1 ton and hauled a saddle horse. He would
ricde out and check on his cattle. He said they were friendly and
always came up to  the fence whenever he approached and seemed
gentle. He wondered if he could just bring a saddle and throw it
an one of them and ride out to check his cattle. It would save
his having to haul his saddle horse up from Rigby. I don’t know
what dad told him. I'm sure he didn’t say go ahead. If he
referred him to Warren I don’t remember. But I'm sure Warren
never let anyone touch his horses.

Une fall Warren rode Tarzan to I.F. He went up on the train
angd took his saddle. He rode back in about 9 hours. I wish [ knew
Just how long it really took. He said Tarzan just kept going
faster and he’d pull him in. Pretty soon he’d be asleep again and
Tarzan would be on a fast gait. It was about 90 miles we used to
think in those days. The present road cuts off some miles. When
he rode up he followed the railvoad and came up along the Warm
River. Going down on King he rode along the shoulder of the road
and that meant there was a lot of ftraffic. Anyway he was dog
tired when he got to I.F. He claimed Tarzan could have gone back
the next day. But he would not have wanted to ride him.

The year Al and Lois got married they moved into the log
house he built across the street from the folks on 347 Cleveland
and stayed there until the esarly spring when Barney took them up
to Island Park. They werse there right after the snow melted and
lived in Marj & Barney’s house for about @ weeks. He began to
build a cabin ocut of left over 5" logs. The 5 in. logs were never
as popular for building houses as the 6 " logs. 8o 57 logs were
often left in small scattered piles. So this was a way Barney
figured he could use them up and they were available when the &"
logs had pretty well been cleaned up and since the mill wouldn’t
be rurning for a while no more 6" logs would be available.

He built the cabin just north of the big pine tree in the
middle af camp. It sat next +to the small stand of pole size
trees between the camp and the small clearing about 100 ft. north
where there used to be ald trailers and foundations of stables
and other buildings going back to the twenties and Targhee Tie
days. It was a 2 vroom cabin with only an opening not a door
between the rooms. The door as at one side of the gabled end
facing south. It had a double sliding window in front  and one
along the west side. On the north of the front room was a small
window. The double windows slid to open and had screens. A& small
window was placed on the west side of the back room. Linoleum was
placed on the front room. Some kitchen cabinets were placed along
the west wall beneath the window. A Majestic wood range was putb
in against the partition facing the front window. A small
outhouse was put to the rear about 20-30° from the back corner in
the front edge of the trees. Two large trees along the west side
had a log wired between them where they rested on heavy limbs 127
off the ground. Originally it was used as a swing; later to hold



a gambel to hang game while being dressed and skinned.

I arrived after school was out and in time to help in
putting sheathing on the roof and tar paper. rough lumber running
linear to the pitch of the roof over the tar paper took the place

of shingles in ordinary houses. O0f course it was called Al’s
cabin until some years later when Warren moved in and it was
called Warren’s cabin. Later I moved in and Dad also and it

became known as grandpa’s cabin. This must have been the spring
of 746 or possibly '47. Later in the 60's Marj sold the new
cabin that Barney had built in front of their old one and it was
moved over to the Buffalo summer home area. A few years later
Marj sold this cabin ta be moved. The Forest Service was
pressuring her to clean up the camp area. I had gotten married
and although she had given it to me and I had jacked it up and
had it on skids it seemed evident I wouldn’t move it. If she
wash’t pretty cooperative with the Forest Service they sort of
held her sawdust pile over her. They could have come in  and
required she clean it all up or move all that sawdust. I found an
Indian head penny while digging along side in the pine needles
getting room to put a house jack beneath the logs on  the north
side.

Warren lived in a tent frame at the old Ranger Station site
west of the tracks and 1/4 mile north of the siding that summer .

He came over to Al’s often. He often rode to Fond?’s with Al and
Linis. One Sunday they went to Mack’s Inn where there was a
grocery store. The prices bthere were considerably less than at

Pond?’s.  They had gone up  to Island FPark Lodge above Mack’s and
were returning along the narrow winding road when they spotted a
bear near the highway. They stopped and tried to back the semi
along the road. They must have been too excited to do a good job
and this led to more confusion. Finally they got backed up alang
side the bear and Warren started shooting. He carvied a Smith and

Wesson 32 special on his hip. After shooting several shots and

nothing happened he handed the pistol to Al. His success was not
better. The bear didn®t run off but fimally wandered away leaving
them all amazed. Lois joked about their ability to protect her
from a bear. Different people called Warren when they had a bear
and he was always happy to get one.

One fall he started going %o the I..P. garbage dump between
Pond?s and Elk Dreek after the ranger, Ned Millard told him he
saw many bear tracks there. that agot Warren started hunting
bears. He used to go and set in his car after dark and wail
patiently for the bears to come in to feed. He had an old 36
Studebaker Fresident that he had bought from Faul Walker, Ann’s
husband. It had a spot light and he’d turn it on after he’d sat
guietly for a while. He often saw bears. 0One night he shot at a
bear and it rolled over and over biting at its own side. Then it
ran off. This time he had shot it with a 30/30. Warren ordered a
hear trap. It was large, but I don’t know the size. He had a
pair of clamps with it to open and set the jaws.

I went with him one time to the bear pit. There was a bear
in it. He shot it and when we removed it from the trap there was
a very bright shiny spot about the size of a dollar just behind
the front leg on the right side. After seeing this Warren



remembered he’s read where a spinning bullet could wind in the
haiv of game animals shot at an angle and roll up a ball of hair
and pass on without penetrating the skin. So he assumed this was
why the bear had not gone down  when he shot and why the bright
shiny spot on  the bears side. He kept setting his trap. One
ODctober he got a large bear. When we drove in thru the trees we
spotted it in the trap. It had been enraged. It stood and looked
around. Then it picked up a gquaking aspen about 5-6" in dia. and
20 feet long in its mouth and swuang it up and around and back and
forth like a dog would shake its head with a stick in its mouth.
You never had to wonder if you should respect the strength of a
bear after seeing that performance.

Warrven set many traps over the years. Ohe time he set his
trap alwng the road to Pond®s just near the little flat.... a
sagebrush flat about 3/4 mile from the highway. It was under a
large lodgepole with spreading branches. From one of the
branches about 6-8 feet out from the trunk he hung a little syrup
bucket with fish heads, lowered to about 8 feet from the ground.
When he went back to check the trap the bucket was gone and the
trap had been sprung. In the ground by the trap there were two
deep hind tracks in the pine needles, grass, and dirt. In the
jaws of the trap were some long black hairs. It had evidently got
the bait standing on its hind legs and then settled on its
haunches onto the trap, rising as it sprung and leaping to
freedom.

When my father was young he had an Uncle Axel Anderson. He
haul ed wood from the woods to the valley and maybe logged as well
part of his 1life. Anyway, I was told that he often went to the
wonds and came home with a live bear on his load of wood. He
used to take old pickle barrels. They were wooden barrels with
staves and metal straps around then. He took out the contents and
one end and drove spikes into the barrels at an angle toward the
bottom and then baited it with fish heads or obther smelly bait.
he placed it in a likely spot in the woods. When he went back in
a day or two if there was a bear with its head in the barrel it
would be backing all around making noise and thrashing about
trying to get its head out of the barrel and he'd catch it. I
don’t know how he got it onto his load of wood.

Warren tried several different barrel traps over the years.
ane got  stolen.  Then one of them he fastened solid to a tree
using a chain. & hear gob in it alright, but it also pulled its
head out and left a lot of hair and fur behind. 8o he learned
you couldntt fasten it solid. He used a metal can that had been a
container for carbide used for a home welding generator. It had a
small round lid that sprung off similar to the lid on old Cocoa
cans. With the lid removed this left a rim. Warren bent 16"
spikes around and pointed into the barrel from the rime  Then he
put a spring inside to hold the spikes out so they wouldn’t
remain parallel to  the sides of the barrel. He never caught a
bear in any of these traps. One summer I hauled this trap to a
amall dried up pond down in the Ripley Butte area on an old road
that Bert Miller, Peterson’s herder told us about. There was a
small water hole there most of the summer but even though I put
fresh  bait in the trap throughout the summer it never seemed to



be disturbed when we would drive down to check it. Berdett and
Dad often rode with me. Berdett lost his enthusiasm for the trip
after a few times without any results.

One fall Warren drove up to Sunset Lodge along the main
highway to  MWest Yellowstone. The owner had a private garbage
dump wp a slope from his place. He had cabins and a cafe. We
drove up a road C(just 2 tracks thru the sagebrush) to the edge of
some  quaking aspen and a few pines about 1/2 mile from his
buildings. Warren set his trap and tied a leg of rotten mutton to
a tree by a trail going up the hill toward the timber. Then we
left and went down about 100 yds. to sit in the car, listen and
wait. Finally a while after dark and we hadn’t heard anything he
decided we may as well go home. The owner had requested that he
not leave a trap set over night in case someone might be hiking
in the area. His stepson was Roger Connor who had gone thru high
sohool with me in I.F. WE took a light and went up to retrieve
the trap and discovered the mutton was gone. It was pretty spooky
getting the trap and back to the car. I was certainly looking
over my shoulder. Steve was with us I think and Sharon was there.

On  another night we went up to Howard Spring. It's just
below the continental divide less than a mile. It is a nice
place, The spring has a temperature of about 40 degrees. It is
always a nice place to stop for & good refreshing drink. AT that
time you could drive into the picnic grounds. We drove in and
sat and watched in the moonlight. It is funny how you eyes play
tricks on you in the dark. Or maybe it's your mind. But I
remember sitting looking and looking. Finally [ saw some definite
movemnent . It turned out to be two porcupines moving around in
the moonlight. In the strips of light between the trees they
looked like they were running all around. I thought maybe they
were bear cubs. That’s all we saw. It got cold sitting gquietly
and waiting for action. Warren fell asleep. Finally about 1:30 or
2:00 am we went home. Some of the guys that worked for the
Forest Service cleaning campgrounds had told Warrven they had seen
a lot of bear sign at this campground.

One night a few years later we went to the new Island Fark
dump west on  the highway just off the Shotgun Valley Foad. e
parked and waited and waited. It got darker and darker. 1 was
lonking  forward out the front windshield and I saw a dark object
that rose higher than the hood of the car. T kept looking and I
didn’t detect any movement. I thought it may have been a tree. A
little bit later I looked hard there again and realized it was
gone., That was a thrill. But it would have been even greater if
Warren had turned his lights on while it was standing there. I
think I asked Warren, Was there a tree just in front of the car?

Before he shot his first bear at the old dump he spent a few
nights alone looking and turning his spot lights on. He was alone
and the next day he was telling how a bear’s eyes shoot out at
you in oa spotlight and look like little red balls of fire.

After so much hype about bears at the dump, finally my
father decided he would like fo go get a bear. He had always
wanted to shoot a bear. His father had killed a bear in an
exciting situation when he was a young man and my dad always
wanted to shoot one. I was going to be a senior in college that
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fall and I was driving a 1941 DeSoto club coupe. 8o we went to

the dump and it was dark. We drove in and as I turned o go
parallel with the pit I turned on my lights. Twa bears were
walking along the vroad in front of the car. We got buck fever I

suppose. We didn't get a shot right away. In fact later we found
arn empty 30/30 shell laying on the road that had been ejected
without firing a shot.

We didn’t wait long until other bears appeared by being
patient. Dad got off a couple of shots but no kill and we found
some blood at the far end of the dump. The road ended there.
After we got back to the mill and told Barney what had happened
he had to go hunting. It was late, after 10:00 pm so dad didn't
want to go. Barney took me and he rigged up a 6 volt car battery
with a light connected by alligator clips. We got to  the dump
and out thru the woods in the dirvection of the trail of blood. It
wasn’t a lot of blood and we didn't go far until the trail dried
up. I was carrying the light and he had his 300 Savage with a
scope on it. He had used a light to hunt rabbits in Mud Lake and
goose  hunting in years past on Tom’s UOreek. But [ was really
nervous. I've often thought how dumb. One woof from a bear and
for sure the alligator clips would probably been jerked loocse by
[1=38 I was on  edge. Anyway after 30 minutes roaming around in
the dark and shining the light everywhere including up in the
tree tops we got back to the car and headed home. I was relieved
I don?’t khnow if he was relieved aor not. But he sure was taking a
chance with me holding the flimsy light.

On another night I went back with my dad. It was a black
night. No stars out. We pulled up aleng side the dump. It was
30~40 yds. long. The dirt was piled up on the far side making a
bank. We stopped the DeSoto. I was driving and the pit was on my
side. WE stopped and waited in the darlk, listening. There are a
lot of sounds at night. Little sounds like mice might make
rummaging around  among the cans. Finally in the dark loaoking
thru my window which was rolled down I saw a large dark abject
against the light colored bank of dirt above the pit. 1 said, I
think there is a bear there. I turned on the spotlight and the
bhear had just emerged from the pit and stopped on top of the bank
of dirt facing away from us. He just stood there with the light
on him. Dad steadied the 30/30 across the rolled-down window an
the driver’s side where 1 sat. He was getting ready to take a
bead when the bear turned its head enough we could see his one
eye sparkle and the side of his head. Dad fired. The bear just
dropped in his tracks. But he also went over the mountain and
slumped out of sight over the bank. We drove to the far end of
the pit and I was able to get the spot light down along the side
of the bank through the trees and get the bear in  foous laying
there with no movement. [ started to position the car @no that I
could drive thru the woods between the trees and get near it. Dad
would have nothing to do with  that route. I had to drive to it
keeping the headlights on it. Then I used my tire chains and
hooked to the bear and backed out to the road. Then we opened
the trunk and tried to load it. We couldn®t 1ift it. WE couldn’t
begin to l1ift it. Any place you took hold of it the hide just
rolled in your hands and  you couldn’t get a grip on it. 8o we
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had to leave it there and drive to the mill.

Dad awakened Moyhne Jensen, one of Barney's men and we gob
him to go with us to the pit. The three of us had to get a couple
of strong limbs about 4-5 feet long and uwse them like skid logs
laying over the bumper into the trunk. Then we literally rolled
the bear into  the trunk and drove home. I don®t know when Warren
got the bear from us, but he dressed it out of course and seemed
real happy to have all that fat to render. He said it would be
his winter’s supply. He claimed it was the best lard for cooking
and making pie crusts, ebc.

One time I ate some bear liver that Warren cooked. T had to
admit it was good. I never did like liver much, but I did like
this. But I don’t want to eat it now. [7ve heard that bears may
carry Tularemia so I wouldn't want to take that chance. It may be
carried in  the liver when it isn't in the other muscle of the
animal, or so I've heard. Many years later [ was treated to bear
meat in British Columbia and it was well cooked and delicious.

Later in the fall, Al was in Island Fark and so he had heard
about all this bear hunting and we all went to the dump. Dad and
his 2 boys. I was in the DeSoto again. It had the spotlight on
the door. We sat a while after driving in and it was dark. [ saw
something moving along the mound of dirt on  the pit so I turned
on the light. I had a nice bear in the round beam of light. Only
about 20-25 feet away. It had been agreed that it would be Al’s
shot since the rest of us had all had turns. He had a British
3.08 with peep sights. He pulled a bead and fired. The greatest
show began. That bear roared like a lion. He immediately whirled
and grabbed at his side. He spun around and around. He fell on
the dirt and then took off as fast as lightning down the bank. He
swapped ends about 30 feet and went the other way. Dirt was just
flying. He kept roaring. Warren shot and maybe dad. I don’t know
if Al  got another shot off or nob. But when it ended and Mr.
Bruin lay still on  the bank we all knew that if he had used all
that eneray going in one direction he could have covered a lobt of
ground. Alss  had he pursued an attacker it could have been - a
battle for gquite a few seconds. That was the last bear hunt in
the DeBoto and the last for all of us unless Warrven went later.

After Warren remarried in the G0's he lived over by the head
of the Warm River where he worked for J.C. Stimson on their
place. He had goats and horses there. MHe had a large Great Dane
dog. It was just outside his cabin. He lived in one of the cabins
that Gene Jones made for his cutters. He actually had twoa of them
end to end and you could walk from one into the other. He had a
55 gallon drum for a dog house. [t had one end cut out. the dog
was ochained to a tree next to the barvel. He kept a dish just
within reach of the chain for dog food. Also a watering dish was
near. It was dark and he heard the dog barking. He was making
gquite a fuss. As Warren characteristically did, he yelled at the
dog to Shut Up. The dog persisted. A teen-age girl from Farker
where Warren lived in the winter was visiting and baby sitting in
the day time. She was there. Warren went to the door when the dog
persisted in barking. He looked out and the dog was barking at
something up in the tree. S0 he got a flashlight and went out and
shined it up in the tree and there was a bear. S oone aof  the
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girls held the light and he got his 20.40 Craig and brought it
down with one shot. The dog must have been as surprised as the
people to have a bear come crashing down beside him.

One  time over near Shotgun Valley, Just across  bhe
backwaters of the Island Park Reservoir The Stoddards operated a
sawmill. One time & bear came into  their camp and went into
their cellar. It was built up with a sod roof. Someone saw bthe
bear go inside and hurried and shut the door. Then they got a
truck there and put a hose on  the exhaust and ran it into  the
vent on top of the cellar. They heard a lot of commotion for a

little while and then everything got quiet. Later they opened
the door and removed a good sized black bear.

One winter the PFond brothers, sons of Charles PFond went up
the Buffalo River and entered a cave in some large rocks by the

bank up & little draw from the river and made a smug. The smoke
aroused the bear and when it started to come out they of course
shot it. It made a nice specimen. It was mounted and in their

lodge for a long time. It was shiny and black.. not a large one;
maybe about a 2 yr. old.

Dad and I drove up to Ed Eyberg’s place on  summer evening.
He lived on the head of the Buffalo River. He had a small two
room cabin made of logs salvaged from several other cabins that
had caved in roofs. We came in a little before twilight. He made
some excuse to not dnvite us  in and we stood out  on the little
rise of ground in front of his cabin and listened to the gurgling
of the spring just below. A large spring comes out of the hill
there. The other fork comes down a draw from a major spring
about 3/4 mile upstream where it also is joined by Chick Creek.

Ed was the kind of a guy that you could consider  about as
unafraid as any man in the woods. He had been known to carry a
car battery from Pond?’s to his cabin after dark. It’s a 6 mile
walk and it’s 4 miles from Pond?s to the sawmill. He walked up
all those draws in  the dark. There are many canyons. Some are
deeper than others. Some have heavy jackpine growth right up to
the road. There are rocks and stumps jutting up along the tracks
of the road. Well he told us once he was about as scared as he'’d
ever been when he was awakened by a cow moose standing on his
porch in front of his window.

He once set a bear ftrap down the draw from his cabin. He
was walking up through the woods one day and came upon the set.
There was a bhear im it. He hadn’t expected to see a bear in it
and when he saw it; it saw him. It stood up on its hind legs and
began beating the trap which was on a front leg against a tree.
He ramn! He put some distance between himself and the bear and
later came back with his rifle and shot it. He used a 25/35 or a
35 FRemingbon. He once told Barney that when he killed game for
meat he went away from home and brought the meat back in his
backpack. He was quite a guy and I'11  tell more of him in
another place sometime. He had a colorful history.

One time after I was marrvied, one of Louwise’s cousins,
Martha Leone Lambert married a fellow from St. Anthony, Brent
Neiborg. He graduated from the Y and went into Fish and Game in
Idaho. We visited them at Stanley Basin one year when we were onh
our way to Canada. They had kids about  the ages of Lisa, Willis
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and Justin. They had a German shepherd dog, Rowdy. He knocked the
kids around a bit. Justin got a little fear of dogs from that. WE
learned Lisa had no fear of water while visiting Red Fish Lake
with them. Anyway while they were still students, he worked in
Yellowstone in  the summers on  trall crews. They lived in a
trailer. There was a little clearing by it. There was a small
lodgepale near the center. It must have been 20-25 feet tall. It
was limber. A bear kept bothering around their camp. They were
all college boys. One day they set some bait to tempt this bear
up to this tree. But beforehand they rigged a rope or cable high
up  in the +ftree and pulled it down so it was bent over
considerable at the top. They secured it there with someway to
release it quickly. Then they waited until this bear came to the
tree. Then they suddenly rushed the bear making noise and indeed
the bear went up the tree as they had hoped. Then they tripped
the rope or cable and the top of the tree swung back up and even
over the other way with a great deal of force. This threw the
bear oubt of the top of the tree and it sailed out and onto the
ground with a thud. It was up and on its way out of camp at once
and it never bothered their camp again that summer. Now some
folks find that hard to believe. 1%m not one to be taken in by
tall tales. But to me this was not preposterous. College kids
given some incentive to have fun and such an opportunity, no its
not unbelievable to me. They Jjust needed the circumstances to
pull it off and they did.

Barry and David went to Glacier Nat. Fark one year with the
scouts from their ward when they lived on Ada Ave. This was after
Barney had died. While there they slept in sleéping bags. They
put bait out a ways from where they were laying and watched for
bears to come in. They did come. And the scouts were prepared
with a supply of rocks and with their flippers they delighted in
running the bears off, time and time again. Yeh, kids can conjure
up a 1ot of ways to have fun and they have the energy and the
ambition to pull it off many times.

One fall Warren put a trap by one of the old cabins at the
top of the hill in Skinnerville., He fixed up some old boards
from a door or a roof to form a Vee. After going back and
checking the trap about every other day for a week he got tired
of making the trip and didn't bother to go check for about a week
and I went with him one evening or maybe a SBunday to checlk it.
There was a bear, or the remains of a bear in the trap. Whether
one or more obther bears was involved or not no one could tell,
but the poor middle sized brown bear Had been cannibalized. It
gave me a sort of sad feeling to  think about the poor beggar in
that trap and then to be attacked and killed by his own cousins.

The last that Marjorie had Ol' Dicl, Dad was with us and we
were logging up the Chick Creek Road above the dugway on the
ricdge not far from  the dugway that dropped off the ridge down
into 8plit Creek to where Gene had his camp. (At the 0Ole Moe..it
once had a cabin there established by an old Swede....probably in
the Targhese Tie era.) There North Fork comes down out of a canyon
that is filled with obsidian boulders with steep cliff-like sides
that peters out in less than a half mile into a climbable ledge.
Along the north side near the mouth there is a large rockslide of
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boulders rising to the level of the ridge above with aspens and

lots of brush and shrubs.
0ld Dick was dead one morning when we arrived there. He may

have gotten pneumonia and died from it. We logged there with a
bay mare called Jane. 8She got sick also and the vet told Marj
to give her shots of penicillin. She didn’t like the shots and

tried to get her rear end around and kick at me after about the
second time [ gave her a shot. You'd slap her gently a few times
with your hand and then slap the needle in usually a shoulder or
other heavy muscle; then put the syringe on and squeeze the thing
and that part didn’t hurt, but it was her anticipation of the
sting of the needle that excited her.

Warren or Cliff Jensen may have showed up and drug 017 Dick
from the manger up the road and onto the ridge. A little later we
could see that bears had visited the carcass but we never saw a
bear there. I don’t think a trap was ever set. I think Cliff had
hoped to find a bear there some morning when he drove up in his
truck. In this area there were occasional signs of grizzlies. A
couple had been sighted over the years. (mentioned earlier)

When Dad hauled ties with a wagon near the top of Black Mt.
above what they called Camp B~2 there was a place known as the
bear wallow. One time Kooch, a superintendent was up in  the
wonds with a dog he had and it went off barking into this wallow.
It must have been a small depression that held water surrounded
by jackpirnes making it impossible to see into from even a near
distance., Anyway the owner of the dog was concerned for the dog
but it did come back out. He frantically called to it.

On the Buffalo River the early cutters drove stakes into the
sandy bottom and put poles along to guide floating timber. Mostly
they floated props. These poles were placed on bends in the river
and kept the props in the main channel and out of the many
shallow edges typical of the upper river. About half way from
the bend where dad went down to the river to  fish and the big
bend down by the Wallen’s cabin there was a cabin  just on the
edge of the river. It was built on a low bank that was grassy and
wet. Near this site there had once lived a tie hack whose name
was Barrow. He was a well built man. He cut timber across the
river from where he had a tent in the vicinity of this cabin. I
can remember the stakes were still in place across the river
there., It had a wide shallow area on the opposite side across the
main channel. He cdrove the stakes in and then lashed crosspieces
between each pair of stakes placed about a foot apart. These
crosspieces supported two poles maybe 15-20' long. The poles were
overlapped to make a small foot bridge which allowed him to cross
the river to cub.

Frops were usually 8! long and ties were 8'. 8o most cutters
carried a measuring pole. A small dead jackpine was selected
that could be used as a pry pole when needed when making a cut
with a crosscut saw., Usually it would not exceed 2" in diameter.
It needed to be strong yet not heavy or bulky. It might
mrcasionally  be used to knock off small dead limbs along the
trunk of a tree. Also a push stick to push a tree that might
lean back when being felled.

The story was that one day Barrvow started acrvoss the river



on his bridge and met a black bear half way. The bridge was too
narrow to turn around for the bear and so he pushed it off into
the river with his measuring pole. When I first heard this story
I was pretty small. I thought of a measuring pole as a measuring
tape. The tapes were made of wood and short  segments hinged to
that it folded and unfolded. I wondered how such a flimsy tape
wiould be strong enough to push a bear off the bridge. The river
was not deep. It had some holes along which @ made for good
fishing. But a man could wade the length of the river with hip
boots and very few holes would have been too deep. The ones that
were could have easily been skirted by moving around just a few
feet on one side or the other.

The other story of this tie hack is that he came home for
his dinner one day and as he opened the flap of his tent and
started in he startled a bear that was in  the tent into his arub
and it exited right out the back end of the tent.

At the main tie camp at the Island Fark siding there were
quite a few cabins. A ranger station, a school house, Al Smith’s
cabin, Bouth’s, Munson, Kooch, Fond?’s ran  the commissary, and
there were several private owned barns and there was at least one
large company barn. One day someone  looked out  from the
commissary and saw  a bear reared up curiously watching the pigs
aover the top boards of the pig pen.

West Yellowstone had a large garbage pit on the outskivts of
town to the west near where the highway crosses the Madison River
I became aware of this the year we went on  our honeymoon.  We
stopped in West to vigit Steve and Shirlene Enapp. At the time
their 2 aldest boys were just little guys. He worked there year
around for the REA. Going to the dump had become a popular
evening pastime for many residents there and tourists that found
out about it.

We went out there several times. Warren was living at the
Stimson place on  the head of the Warm River that summer and he
went with us one evening to West. He took a portable spotlight
with him. @& large grizzly was in the pit stirring things around
and feeding while we were there. There were at least a half
doren cars there besides the one  we were in. I  remember as we
approached the pit walking across the level area where cars and
trucks turned around  that there were gquite a few people between
me and the bear. I was not one to get too close. I could hardly
believe how big its head appeared. My impression was that its
head was the size of a bushel basket. That remains indelibly on
my memary today. Warren a little later the same evening, I think
walked over to the far edge of the dump and to one side where he
could shine his light down over the bank. The garbage was pushed
over an embankment on a steep hillside. The regular lodgepoles
growing at the bottom of the hill were not as tall as the level
where we were standing. There was a trail at the bottom and just
some jackpines and mature pines scattered below. So with his
light we were able to get a good look down below us.

The sight was exciting as a couple of fairly well grown cubs
growled, wrestled and rolled about in the grass in full view. We
didn’t get so involved that we lost ftrack of the adult bear
wading about in the garbage off to one side of us, however.
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During ouyr  honeymoon thru the park  after Louise’s family
came up we saw quite a few black bears. Her youngest brother,
Jim was in  high school, maybe a sophomore.?? He made his mother
nervous when we stopped at one bear jam. There was a cub off away
from its mother. He ram over to where it was and it scampered up
a tree. He was at the trunk of the tree giving it a bad time by
just being so near to it. It didn’t sguawk but it was very much
aware of his presence and after guite a bit of coaxing, he moved
away from it. The old bear was at the roadside getting handouts.

Several vyears after we were marrvied I went to Island Park to
help Barry. I arranged to store up my vacation time and take it
o I had several weeks in one block. [ was going to trade labor
fior some building materials. Barry had picked up a couple of
partners from guys he'd met at the Y and was operating a sawmill
on Marj’s 40 acres on the edge of the flat behind where lene's
mill had been. It was about a 1/4 mile south of the siding on
the east of the Eccles Road.

Barry and I went to the dump at West at least a couple of
times while I was up there. They batched and stayed in the cabin
where Gene and Glenna had lived when they were there. ALl the
other cabins had been burned by the forest service oF moved away.
Only the sawdust piles remained having been reduced by aging o
the point they were very low and dark orange in color.

One time at the pit there was a Volkswagen campmobile. It
had a canopy set on one side. There was a photographer there
shooting., His flashbulbs were going off almost constantly. It
seemed the bears were a little nervous and T dan’t remember
having a very good look at any bears that night. There were some
there. But with all the cars and people and this VW sitting
almost on the edge of the dump it was a bit crowded and we were
hot very satisfied with our trip. Seemed like sort of a waste.

On another night we sat and waited for a long time. We only
saw one bear. But it was an  eerie experience. Just a strange
eerie feeling I had watching this bear. & bear came in. But it
came in from a different direction. It sheaked in from one end of
the pit. It walked about in the shadows and stayed near the edge
and hardly aot out into the open. You had the idea it was ready
to take off runmning at any sound. Yet it was a bear that had a
weird disposition., It seemed surly or mean. It was like it was
unhappy and defensive as it prowled the lot. It never did settle
down to feed. It was in poor shape; not fat like bears usually
would be in the late summer. We sure wondered a lot about it. It
was long and lean. It seemed to have a sort of hump. It was not a
shiny color. A dull brown scruffy coat  with highlights on its
back and shoulder a little darker than the other hair made it a
spectacle. One thought we concluded from all of this was: could
it be a misfit among bears? Why? Is it possible it was a half
breed bear? Part grizzly-part black bear? Is that why it seemed
50 welrd? It sneaked in because it was smaller than the
grizzlies we’d normally see there and nobt acceptable to them. Its
ears larger than grizzlies didn’t seem to go along with its hump.
Its hump wasn’t large like a grizzly. But being in poor shape it
did show the profile of a hump that wasn’t normal with black
bears. It just acted like it had a sour disposition and made you




wonder if it was a rogue, not acceptable to either of the two
species normally in that area. Bocially it was perhaps shunned
by black bears since they may have felt afraid of it if it really
Was a part—griz. Ay it Wa s ) strange
experience....unforgettable!

A few years after being at the pit in West we heard that the
government closed it down., One reason leading up to the closure
was of course the increasing conflicts between grizelies and
people. In Glacier Park some backpackers had been mauled. Some
gseverely; others killed. The citizens of West were upselt when a
Californian came into the pit one night and shot a beautiful one
and left it lay. When asked about it later he simply stated he
had always wanted to  shoot a bear. Me left it laying without
apparently any intentions of using the hide or head.

About this time government studies on grizzlies there and in
Jackson Hole area were starting where bears were being shot and
immobilized with ftrangquilizing drugs. More and move bear/human
confrontations were taking place. Warren concluded that as a
result of handling bears while drugged the bears became more
familiar with humans. They had human scent on themselves after
recovery. The cubs also had that smell on them when reunited with
their mothers. He felt this may have destroyed some of the
natwral fear that wild animals seem to have for humans. [ don't
think he has been proven wrong and I don®t think I've heard a
better explanation. I haven’t heard any from the scientists to
speak of. And some of those that did these studies have recently
claimed it was a mistake to stop feeding the bears. Now in a
drought  year they do not  have sufficient food to get them thruo
without extending their foraging range and that puts  them in
contact with people outside the parks more than when their range
was sufficient to largely remain in the parks and within bounds.

There is one issue of National Geographic Magazine that has
a sirveable feature on the bears at West Yellowstone dump and even
shows the VW van set up where the cameras were used. Bo we were
there but didn’t know it at the time.

One spring Barry crossed Tom's Creek flat when there was
still  considerable  snow. They saw some grizzly tracks and
followed them. They saw one place where the snow which had
settled was still 3-4 feet deep that had been dug up. It was dug
down ta the level of the dirt and grass. There laying out on the
snow was the dried up remains of a small field mouse. He thought
it was incredible that the bear could smell that dried up thing
below in all that snow and would dig it oub.

He and Elinor lived in a trailer and later in a modified A
frame cabin at Last Chance several winters. 0One spring a bear
was disturbing their garbage cans behind their cabins. Bome
became alarmed. Barry had a 30 carbine rifle patterned after the
Army model. He waited on night for several hours in a small
clearing behind his house. Finally a bear appeared. He turned on
his lights. It was a grizzly. Barry did an uncharacteristic
thing for Barry. He didn't shoot. Inasmuch as there were a lot
af summer  homes in the nearby surrounding area he felt like he
shouldn?t take a chance on a shat, just in case it didn’t do the
Job. It would have been a bad situation to have a wounded bear
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run off into  that type of neighborhood, Had it been away from
the summer home area I don’t doubt he would have taken the shot
and with his sharp shooting ability I think there would have been
a dead BEAFR.

He looked around at bear sign near his own cabin during a
perind of a week or more and observed that some empty cans, like
Campbell’s Soup and Evaporvated Milk had been bitten through by
the bear’s teeth. He was pretlty impressed at seeing that.

Within a short time a lady living in one of the cabins heard
a disturbance and looked out an upstairs window or deck and saw a

bear digging around just below in their garbage can. She
returned with a shot gun and Mr. Bruin got the full brunt of a
cliose range shotgun shell. It did him in. The head was not fit
to be made into a rug after her one shot. The game authorities
came and hauled it away. It seems they had been asked to look
into  the bear problem and hadn’t gotten with it. S the bear
stayed around foo long. The regulations against shooting

grizzlies as endangered species than was not as great as later
when they were actually put on the endangered species register.
They were concerned at losing the bear, but there was a pretty
good argument in a summer home area with lots of children and the
fact that a lady did the shooting from her own home left little
chance for any prosecution for the kill.

On a ¢trip thru Yellowstone with my folks during our
honeymoon in our VW squareback we saw a light colored young bear
maybe 2 or 3 year old., It wasn’t big. That is there were lobts of
black bears larger that we saw. But mother indicated she thought
it was a Bilver Tip. And I think it was even though it seemed to
be in and among the cars some it didn’t seem to stay there like a
black bear normally would have.

One  summer I went to Yellowstone several times with Warrven.
Dad and I went more than once. It was sort of something to do for
a Bunday drive when we were at the mill with nothing really to do
g0 we drove up there. Berdett was gone off to  school and not
much was happening generally. Steve went with us. We were in one
of my cars. I don’t know if it was the 39 Ford ar 749 Merc. But
anyway we drove up to Tower Falls. There was a curio store there
and my dad always fond of ice cream asked me to go in and bring
us each a cone. I went in planning to order 3 cones. While
standing in line to place my order, I looked out to see a medium
sized black bear crossing the parking lot toward the door where I
had entered. Enowing I would have to pass the bear going to the
car I Jjust ordered an extra cone. Sure enough when I left the
building the bear spotted me carrying the cones and made a bee
line toward me. I gently tossed a cone off about 10 feet to one
side and walked on to our car in the parking lot. Some tourists
sure stared at me. I don’t know if they thought T was too timid
ton try to keep my ice cream or what? But [ wasn’t going to argue
and I didn’t want to make a second trip for ice cream. Maybe they
thought I was giving someone else’s cone away. But it worked and
I came back with a cone for each of us.

The first summer Barvy was on his mission in Texas he met a
family that Joined the church. They came to Yellowstone Park
that summer and stayed in a cabin and visited Mar j. They drove to
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the park and back each day. They spent several days before
returning to Texas. They had one girl between 11-13. They told
of seeing a mother bear on one trip with 2 cubs out in the road.
Many cars were stopped and people were oubt taking pictures and
giving out handouts. & fast impatient driver came along and
hardly slowed down and went barreling past all the stopped cars.
He honked and went whizzing past the cubs. This startled the
mother bear and she ran to the cubs. When she besgan running they
were scared. They expected she might charge into the people all
around the parked cars. She ran to the cubs. To guote the lady
with her Texas accent she said. She ran up to that little ole cub
and cuffed it. Then she took the cubs away from the highway.

One  summer afbter I came back from Taiwan Marj had her
hauling contracted. She was gettinag the last timber off the
school section that Barney had secured in the 507s. The people
from Drigas cutting and hauling put a small travel ftrailer at the
sight along Split Creek that used to be known as Betty’s Cabin.
It’s at a point where a draw comes into the creek from the south
and east from Trail Canyon. Barney had Gene cut a dugway oubt of
it up onto a ridge from there the road dropped down gradually and
conhected with the Trail Canyon REoad at a place we used to call
the rocky Dugway. Just below it joined the main draw that went up
tom Huckleberry Hill and the 0Old Section & Dugway that dad helped
build and hauled off from in Targhee Tie days. On top was one of
the best timber stands I ever walked through. Al and I discovered
it once while elk hunting. We went up the huckleberry hill and
past the cookhouse, an old cabin, that was a coockshack originally
and it still had a fairly decent roof. We figured Ed Ryberg used
it for a line cabin in the winters when he worked a trap line.

Anyway, by this time in the 60's Gene had moved his mill
bacl to Wyo. and there were no other logaing operations in that
entire area. 5o the bears seemed to be moving in. These cutters
from Drigas complained because they came back from a weekend in
Drigaos and their trailer had scratches all over it  where the
bears they figured had tried to get inside. The guy’s wife
didn’t want to stay there while her hubby was out cutting or
hauling. They left about the time school started that fall and
the state forester came and we checked the stumps and he released
the sale area and Marj terminated her contract on the state
section.

One spring after I had finished school in Utabh I went to
Island Fark to help Marj run her mill. Dad had gone up early to
keep an eye on things at the mill. After the snow melted off the
roads someone had to go in to the mill to see that nothing walked
afifs There always seems to  be some people that will go into
places like that and haul off anything that is loose. They would
haul off old iron and machinery and sell to scrap metal yards.
Usually there were some house logs and small stacks of lumber
that were left from the previous year laying around the yard. So
we always had to get someone in early in the spring and someone
stayed in the fall until the snow closed the roads behind us  to
prevent this type of pil ferage from happening.

Well Dad had his car in there. Probably the '41 DeBoto,
maybe the 48 DeSoto sedan. Anyway he had gone in early and there
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were still  shnowbanks on the north sides of buildings. 0One year
Gene Jones covered a showbank on the east slope of the sawdust
pile with sawdust, using his cat. They dug into it and kept
butter and other things back in it. It lasted them well into the
summer . This particular year, Dad had some hamburger and put it
into  a showbank by Al Smith's cabin which was just about 50-60
feet from his cabin. He came out one morning after washing up at
the wash basin and threw out the water to the east of the house
looked over and saw something strange looking at the side of Al

Smith’s cabin. He went back inside, put on his glasses and
returned to the porch and losked again. It was an animal that he
could not identify. It was strange to him. It wasn’t a

woodochuck. They were pretty comnmon in early spring. They seemed
to migrate that time of year. And often dug under cabins in the
spring. I suppose the old ones kick the young out in the spring
and they have to fend for themselves beginning with finding a
hole or burrow. They are called rockochucks as often or more often
perhaps than ground hogs and other names. They are very cCommon
in lava outcroppings from Island Fark all across Shotgun Valley
out to Spencer. They are even under the walkways at Old Faithful.
Dad went over and discovered that the hamburger he had
placed in the snowbank had been disturbed. This disturbed him. He
looked around the building and tried to see underneath the cabin.
Along both sides it was open between the stringer logs that held
up  the floor. He didn’t see anything. He watched and
subsequently he did get a shot one time with our Winchester .22,
He khew the animal dove under the building. He thought he hit it.
He was a good shobt. But he never saw it again. He didn’t notice a
stench from a dead carcass later and so he suspected it must have
left the area. From his description of it I always wondered if it
miaht have possibly been a wolverine. Wolverines had not been
known  for years. No one talked of seeing them. trappers, tie
hacks, nobody talked of them. I don’t think my dad ever figured
hefd seen one in his lifetime. East of Goshen, where I was born
there was an area called Wolverine. There was a road to Wolverine
and a canyon by that name. It must have originated in the days of
early trappers or homesteaders maybe. But I'm sure the animal had
long since vanished from south eastern  Idaho. But it may have
been that one could have drifted in from the Fark and passed thru
the wcamp. It was bigger than a rock chuck. It may have had some
stripping but it was not a skunk and it had quite a bowed back
and seemed chunky or heavy built. That puzzled dad since he'd
been in Idaho and Island Park for over 60 years and never seen an
animal like it before. It wouldn't make sense that an otter would
be that far from water. I?ve not heard of otter in Island Park
either. I'm not aware they're even listed in Yellowstone history.
About 1969 or '70 HKeith and Erma’s bishop, Olsen came to
them and asked if they would be interested on going on a trip to
Canada. He had a brother that was buying a homestead up in the
Feace River country of British GColumbia. It was just off the
Alcan Highway about 50 miles beyond Ft. 8t. John., The highway
begins at Dawson. It is paved about 60 miles north of there.
NDisen had taken a load of cattle up in trucks and a trailer
behind., They were left in Alberta at a feed vyard. Then another



load was hauled up. After the last load left Utah the haul north
began. On one trip Jjust a ways from B.C. the truck overturned.
The cattle were dumped out on  the rvoad. Most were gathered up.
Gome were hauled to a stockyards and a homesteader rounded up a
few others. So Dlsen had the truck driven all the way back to
Sl to be repaired. It had some problems with the engine and
transmission being out of alignment and it shifted hard sometimes
afterwards. The body repair was finished and about Aug. it wvas
ready to go. Keith and Erma didn’t feel they could take time off
i go.  So they rcalled to ask Louise and . Louise wasn’t
interested. But we called and asked if Jim wanted to go. He had
been of f his mission just a few months., So I took some vacation
time from school  and went. Olsen’s rnephew, Dave drove the truck
to SLC and we picked Jim up in Lava at the Benson place.

We drove pretty well non—-stop trading drivers along the way
as we needed. We stayed part of one day in a hotel in Raymond, Al
It was a long trip. It seemed as we drove that vast country it
was endless skyline. The feeling I had was knowing that the
world was round we were climbing over it toward the pole. We got
our first load part way when a bearing on the ftrailer went out
and we had to  find a place to unload the trailer of cattle into
a stockyard for a few days. Then we took the truck on in loaded
with cattle. Fortunately, the rnads were dry the day we arrived.

At the ranch we met Dee Jones and his family who operated it
for Dlsen. He had a young family. They had spent at least =2
winters in that area. One of those in a remote area 40 miles off
the Alcan near Fink Mt. Dee went back with Dave for the other
cattle. I only went on one another haul back to Alberta.

Bn Jim and I were sort of on wvacation at the ranch. We
played with the kids. They had some cute kids. Having been back
in a remote area they were starved for attention. After the
first load of cattle were put into the pasture Jim and the oldest
Jones boy at  home at the time, Mike went on horseback out to
check the cattle. Across the road from the pasture there was an
oat field. It was oats mixed with Timothy and alfalfa. They saw a
bear gning thru the oats. They went out again with rifles and
shot a bear and tracked it aways. I'm not sure if they got it.??
I think they did. They had to follow it. It left some sign of
blood after crossing the ocat patch into the poplars and brush at
the edge of the field against a gentle timbered ridge. When Dave
and I got back they were excited about it, especially Mike.

On one Sunday we went to church  and came home with Juanita,
Sister Jones, after attending the Ft. St. John branch. Dee had
gone to another branch in the district that day because he was on
the district council. We were just sort of lounging around. There
wasn’t much to do. The family had bookshelves covering an entire
wall of their living vroom filled with many interesting books. 1
enjoyed looking thru some of them. I walked outside and down  a
very emall slope from the house to the road leading into the
ranch and then continued on the road ta the bunkhouse, barns and
corrals which were straight ahead. 0On the left was an alfalfa
field with bales of hay laying on it. It had a fair stand of
hay. Most of the hay there was recently seeded and new corops
using mats as a nurse crop Were being planted each year. They had
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one large machine that was used to clear the land of stumps and
roots. It was a massive rototiller, actually and pulled by a cat.

There were several sheds on the left next to the fenced
field and a wide area for storing eguipment between that fence
and the fenced pasture opposite the road where they kept some
saddle horses. At the end of this fenced area it was open on the
left and the land dropped off rather abruptly to a small creek
below. Directly ahead on the farmstead road were the corrvals and
barn. It was a barn with a loft. It wasn’t real big. And some old
pole carrals extended to the right and below. One of the pens
extended all the way to the creek below. The creek was narvow,
one could easily jump it most places. I just wandered around and
loocked the place over. Across the creek which cut  deep through
the soil the bank rose again to the level of the land where [ was
standing. It was a large cleared area in new oats. To the right
and beyond the pasture another field extended nearly half a mile
which had been cleared but not yet planted. In between there
were clusters of popular and a few pines scattered among some of
them. I looked around the barn and corrals and climbed wup and
sat on the top pole and just surveyed the entire area. There were
no mountains visible from where I sat. The nearest were hills
and they were covered with timber and some of the slopes were all
or mostly popular. (Aspen here)

While sitting on the top pole looking around I noticed a
large black dog move up to the eadge of the oat field dirvectly
across the creek  from me. There was an old road that had been
used to get to the field from the barnyard. It appeared it hadn’t
been used recently. It Jjust stood there. I had heard the Jones’
say that their nearest neighbors were about 4 miles off to the
right. 1 supposed it was a dog from the neighbor’s place. It
stood tall, silent, and still. THEN IT DAWNED ON ME! It was not
a dog. It had to be a walf that I was looking at. I slowly,
carefully, and guietly crawled down from the corral and started
Joaging toward the house. It was 75 vards at least. As I neared
the end of the hay field fence I glanced back and the wolf was
still there; standing tall and motionless. Just at that time the
ald dog at the ranch came off the porch and began to bark at me.

I was looking over my shoulder when the dog barked. I was
amazed at what I saw. The wolf jumped as if he'd been shot at.
The sound of the bark from the dog made it jump. It didn’t stop
but kept running and was out of sight behind trees along the
ravine within seconds. [ had hoped to get to the house and have
Jim and the others come out and see the wolf. I couldn’t get over
the feeling I got from seeing the wolf. I had buck fever more
than anytime [ can remember in my 1i fe.

Jim and I walked down to the ocreek. In the mud along the
sides we saw the large wolf tracks on the banks on both sides.
They were huge Gtracks. The Jones had a goat or two that they
milked. We drank goat milk while we were there. It was kept cold
in a frig. Sister Jones didn’t think since it was Sunday anyone
should take a rifle oubt., B0 Mike was disappointed that he
couldn?t go out hunting. After Dee came home and heard the story
he said we should have taken his 30,06 out., He said if a wolf
came in that close to the house with all theiv little kids, and
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the goats it was getting way too close. The kids ran out around
the place all the time. 8So he got out his rifle and showed me
how to Ioad it. It had a clip. It was a bolt action. It had a
scope. He told me I could take it anytime.

The next morning I was awake early. I slept in the house
that night. I had slept in a trailer adjacent to the house one
night. It was getting light by 3:00-3:30 at that time. It was
nearly August. I took the rifle and ventured out. The dog didn’t
seem to notice me and I walked slowly and silently down the road
to the bunkhouse. The bunkhouse was only about 30 yards from Gthe
corral. There was a 55 gal. drum  that had been left abandoned on
the brink of the hill. I stalked up behind it and used 1t as a
shield while I waited silently and watched the area where the
wal f had appeared the day before. It was cool that early in the
morning. The sun wouldn’t actually rise for some time yet but it
was very light. As I squatted there I saw a movement below along
the creek in the edge of the poplars. All I saw was a black
movement in the trees. I did not see enough outline to  identify
what kind of animal I had seen. It moved toward me and came up
the hill in the timber covered slope. After remaining motionless
for some time, I felt a little conspicuous out there in the cold
morning aiv. So I carefully backtracked to the bunkhouse. The old
door was ajar. I stood with my back to it. I was under the mmall
porch covering the gable end of the log building when I looked
of f to my left and there was a bear next to a bale of hay.

A strange thing happened., I watched the small jet black bear
moving around the bale. It sniffed about and when it had its head
away from me I moved two steps to the porch post at the corper of
the povech in order to get a rest for the rifle. It instantly
reared on its hind legs and whirled about looking directly at me.
I couldn’t believe it would have heard me. With its head facing
away from me I doubt it could have seen me. It couldn’t have had
that kind of peripheral vision. Yet it spun about in an instant.

I pulled off the safety and put the cross hairs of the scope
on it standing there on its hind legs. I sgueezed the trigger. A
sharp report followed. The bear didn’t move as I continued
watching it thru the scope. I pulled the bolt back and fired
again without any hesitation. I have probably never gotten off
two shots faster in my life without an auvtomatic weapon than I
dicl then with one exception. The bear dropped from sight in  the
scope as quickly as I fired. I stood still for several minutes
and then [ began walking along the side of the bunkhouse toward
the house watching out onto the field. After going about 20 feetb
I saw a black object laying by a bale of hay. I watched it a
while longer and it never moved. 8o I went to the house. Mike
was awake now after hearing the shots. He was next to the window
in a bunkbed. He asked what had happened. I said. Come out and
1711 show you  a bear. 0Oh, You didn’t shoot a bear, the shots
were toom  close together. Well they did get up and Mike, Dave
and Jim all came down with me into the field to see the bear. It
wasn’t big. Maybe a yearling or a 2 yr. old.

We drug it away from the middle of the field, over near the
burikhouse, thru the fence and skinned it there. We hung it up in
a shed nearby on  a gamble. We had some fresh bear stakes the
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next day. We had had one delicious meal. Ofter we ate, we were
asked to guess what we had eaten. We hadn’t known. It was the
last of their bear meat from the freezed from the previous year.
Now it was replenished with a young bear. It was very tasty.

Before it was skinned out Dave and Mike had the rifle and a
30/30 and were going down around the creek and through the trees
looking for bear. They thought this bear may have been young
enough to have a mother nearby. They never did see another one or
any definite sign of a larger bear. It was guite a thrill. Again
Dee said he was glad I shot it. He didn?’t want bears roaming
around that close to the house where the kids were playing.

One of the days that Dee was away Jim and I took rifles and
wernt for a walk to the north of the house, We got up on a ridge
overlooking the ranch. There were lots of timbered slopes and to
the west which was behind there house there was a 1ot of
lodgepole. We met a crew of young men  that were going thru that
area trying to tally the amount of timber on the Crown land. That
was government land that was not under homestead. Their access to
the land was over the ranch road leading in from the highway. On
some of the ridges we found sparse stands of timber and new
growth of poplar and jackpines. There were at least a couple of
old roads that we could follow. Some stumps indicated that it had
been previously logged. There were clearings here and there
where we could see oubt across the vistas for miles. On one
opening we saw two large dark spots. We decided they were moose.
When we finally worked our way over onto that slope we didn’t see
anything of them. We ate lots of wild raspberries along an old
road going up the ridge. There were lots of wild rose bushes with
rose buds everywhere that was open and not timbered. Walking back
through the timbered slopes where they had fenced of f an area for
pasture for the cattle we found the new growth of shrubs  and
brush quite thick at times we could have seen another person or
animal 20 feet away or even less.

While returning to the house we heard the howl of a wolf. We
had no way of knowing how near it was to us. In the midst of the
brush and timber sounds are difficult to tell the exact direction
or the distance. Had we heard it when we were on one of the open
slopes or ridges it may have been easier to judge how far away
and the location of the sound. We heard it however as we were
nearing the ranch and not while we were off about a mile on the
ridge. It was an interesting experience. We heard it 23 times.

The next vyear when I was there with Bob Young we saw a
coyote cross  the road near the gate to the cattle pasture. Dee
didn’t feel they were any threat to the cattle and didn’t want to
shoot at them. He felt they would help keep the mice down. As we
helped haul in the bales on hay one day there were lots of mice
underneath many of the bales. Riding with Dee one day after
taking the kids out to catch the school bus a Canada lynx crossed
the road in near the ranch at a place where there was guite a bit
af brush and a little mixed timber. It crossed a windfall and
stopped and watched the car., It didn’t run off. We drove away and
it was still there watching.

Jim and I saw some nice places there. One neighbor, whose
place was near the highway had some nice land opened up and into
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al fal fa and other hay. aAnother just off the highway which was for
gale had a lot of nice lodgepole, some along the highway. It sure
would have made some nice house logs. There were a few little
pests that we discovered when we walked across some of the fields
there. The Canuks call them "no-seeums". They are sort of like a
small gnat. Bothersome but not as bad as mosquitoes. I am sure
they have mosguitoes in their season there also. Bub in mid Aug.
we didn’t see any to speak af. I don’t remember they're being a
problem. It was sure muddy when it rained. Sort of a gumbo.
Everyone up there I think wore rubber boots. The Jones had a mud
room entrance at the rear of the house and took off their shoes
when they entered the house. Adnd their boots of course when it
was rainy weather. The roads were pretty impassible unless you
had 4 wheel drive. With Dee this was not popular because of so
many breakdowns. We tried to rent a 4 wheel drive to go to the
ranch one time when Louise and [ went up with our kids in the
camper and I couldn’t even get up the first little slope from the
highway to Fercy's place. The first homestead about 174 mile in
on the Cache Creek Foad. ALL the rental units were broken down in
town. This was at the airport. Finally we located Dee when he
came to  town bto use a telephone. He took us to the ranch in the
carryall they drove. It had posi-traction. Dee said he preferred
it over ¢ wheel drive, because it was relatively trouble free.
The first trip up it was hunting season and lots of hunters
were up  there going out on guided hunts. It is requirved for non
regident hunters to have guides. They hunted everything from
goats to grizzlies. There were lots of elk in some areas to  the
west of the ranch nearer to the Rockies, Dee said.
ne day while we were there Dee drove over to a neighbors
place. Jim and I rode with him. We drove back on  the road
toward the highway about half way which would have been 2 1/2 -~ O
miles. Then we turned right and drove another 3-4 miles. Along
the way a nice little black bear van across the road about 30 yds
ahead of the car. All the kids were excited seeing it. He passed
a couple of homesteads along the way. 0One had a pond near the
corrals. The water had a film of moss over it. There was a dog
that ran out and barked. Their buildings were all below the road
50 ft. Sno we looked down orn the place. We didn't see any people.
At the end of the road Dee talked to a fellow about sone
equipment. The guy had several bee hives surrounded by an
electric fence. He said the bears were a problem with his bees.
He could never survive them without using electric fence he said.
While we were talking he pointed out a bear feeding up on a hill
side covered with brush. 1t was feeding on berries. We watched
along the way back and saw several others., At one point on this
trip we could see off a considerable distance to the west and
were told that those high mts in the distance were the Rockies.
They seemed a long ways away. Like looking at  the Tetons

from Island Farlk. Here everything seemed volling with some
higher than others ooccasionally. The streams were weird., Muddy
slow moving cut deep in the surrounding terrain. Gravel pits

were not common and a homesteader with a pit on his land  had a
welcome income. We saw more bears along the way home. At this
one place below the road with the pond we saw a brown bear. It
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had light colored hair on its back and sides. It moved around
like it was shneaking. We wondered if the people living there
wolld discover it was along side some of their buildings. We did
niot see the dog this time.

On a subsegquent day Mike drove over part of the same road
while Dee and Dave had gone off for some cattle. One day Dee and
Juanita went for a Ioad of cattle and Dave staved and rested. We
drove past this place where we had seen the brown bear and we saw
it cross the road in front of us. It went into a small patch of
poplar above the road on our left. We stopped. Mike asked me to
drive their old "64 Chevy pickup. So I slid over under the wheel
and he and Jim were standing up on the back of the ¢&truck with
rifles. I drove forward to about where we saw the bear disappear
into the trees. The bare hillside sloped up behind the patch of
trees several hundred feet. WE didn't see the bear come out. So
we drove past the patch; still no sight of the bear. So I backed
up and we was it just 757 or less off the road among the trees.

I suggested they take a count and both shoot at once. They
shot and the bear disappeared. We waited and watched intently.
We saw nothing. Finally they walked out into the patoh of
poplars with bushes and tall grass growing all  among them. Then
Jim said he had a sickening feeling when he saw a small trail of
blood behind where he was standing. They followed the trail. The
bear tracks crossed the road about 5070 feet behind the truck. I
had never left the truck and I thought I was wide awake. I would
have thought looking out the driver’s window I would have picked
up movement with my peripheral vision. But I hadn’t seen a
thing. 8o we back the truck up and turned it around. The bear
had gone across the road and down a very slight slope into more
brush and maybe 100 yds into a stand of lodgepole. There was a
1ot of down timber crisscrossing amidst the standing trees and
bushes. The trail of blood went on. I drove behind them in  the
truck where the trees were sparse enough to drive betwesen and
around. Finally it got too dense to continue. They were almost
out of sight from me when I  heard a shot. 0One of them saw the
bear as it went over a windfall. After the shot it fell just
beyond the trunk. They waited a few minutes and after no
movement or noise they went on until one of them saw it laving in
a heap. They called to me to come and 1 did. We discovered it
was an old bear. A female with worn teeth. Maybe age had
something to do with the scruffy looking hide as well. We carted
it back to the truck and hauled it home. I think we left the
entrails there. Mike wanted his bear’s hide made into a rug. But
after Mike and Dave hunted several days unsuccessfully Dee told
Mike to let Dave have it and he would be able to get anocther one.

o we returned to the states with 3 hides. Two brown and one
black. Jim and Ken had some fun with theirs over the yvears until
it finally disappearsed. We still have ours packed away in the
aarage . We didn't use it much after some of the older kids
nearly petrified the smaller ones crawling around the house in
it. Justin was really scared by it once. Maybe by Lisa.

Berdett told me a story about bears in Canada. He once went
ell hunting with a friend. They got an elk and he laid his rifle
down where they had started dressing it out. He decided to vrun to
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the car and get something they needed. He started off on a trail
over a little hill. He stopped went back and picked up his
rifle. When he got to the crest of the hill a bear met him face
to face on the trail. He said he never even gobt his rifle to his
shoulder when he fired from the hip. The bear didn’t seem
alarmed at all and he thought he wouldn’t give it time to decide
what it wanted to do. He dropped it with the one shot.

Ancther time he went hunting out along some river near It.
St. Jobhn when they lived there and he shobt a bear. He knew he
wounded it so he trailed it. Finally the blond dried up so he
lost the trail. But then ancther bear appeared. He shot but did
not get a oclean kill., This happened several times. He searched
ard looked in  the trees and everywhere without finding a single

bear. There was blood in many places. He described it as how
pheasants will crawl off into the brush and you can’t get to them
after you down them. It was weird. HMe left because of the

dar kness coming on. He went back on another day and didn’t find
anything of the bears.

Mike Jones told us that the big hunting deal there was to go
shoot a grizzly with a single shot. Well they told a story of an
Indian girl that was walking along a trail and came face to face
with a grizzly and shot it with her single shot 22 rifle. It was
sometime later that I heard that it was supposed to be authentic.
It was large enough to go into some record books.

At Dawson  Creek we stopped at a museum. It had a specimen
of a wolf. It was dark colored but not black. I was amazed at

the size of its legs. 6bove the Jjoint past the foot the front
leg was larger than the wrist of a good sized man. It was tall.
One fall I went with Warren and Maureen up the railroad
track across Tom’s Creelk bridge and to the meadow where Simmons
kept his buck sheep. There was a little spring across the meadow
to the east against a pine covered ridge. At the spring was an
ol 1og building that had been left standing. Just through the
gate there was a knoll where the sheep were salted. 0f the few
trees there all had been rubbed against and gnawed on until there
were na  limbs lower than the sheep could reach. Because it was
high and dry the sheep shaded up there instead of staying out in
the wet meadow. Also more breeze and higher and drier kept the
mosquitoes down.  And the salt licks there attracted the sheep.
As we arrvived we saw a coyobte. It was probably a young one.
At least it wasn’t an nld wise one. Warren opened the gate and
went into the meadow slowly. The coyote didn't seem alarmed and
drifted off into the taller meadow grass east of the knoll. By
the time Warren got on old Birdie’s back and started toward the
coyote it was out on the meadow nearly 100 yards. The timber was
another 3-400 yards beyond. Warren was bareback. He urged the
mare into a lope and then into a run. The coyote seemed to go
from side to side and didn't ever get serious enough to strike
out in a straight line until Warren got real close. He pulled
cut  his trusty .32 Special Smith % Wesson and started firing
right along side Birdie's head. The coyobte hit a part of the
meadaw just before the timber where water was standing in the
grass. This slowed it down but it may have surprised Warren al so
and the coyote got into the timber ahead of them so the race
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ended. Warren came back sorry he had missed. If he'd had it to
dy over again, [ think he would have left the knoll on a dead run
rather than trying to gradually get close the fTivast half way
across bthe meadow.

It 1992 in the fall, Jim was out on their meadow on his 3
wheeler checking some calves. They’d had a cow calve. He saw a
young coyoate. he took big civeles around it on the S-wheeler so
it couldn’t get to the river or the fences. Gradually as the
circles became smaller and the coyote movre tived he got to the
point that he could run up on it with the Honda. He'’d circle and
run over it again. Finally he thought he had it. He stopped and
stomped on it and kicked it and put it up  in the basket on  the
front ahead of the handle bars and started for the gate. all of a
sudden it was sguirming and biting at him and jumped out of the
hasket. He chased it again and soon had it ran down. This time
he made sure it was done in before he loaded it in the basket.

HARE RAISING STORIES:

First moose hunt. The fall that Al returned from Wyoming
where he'd been working, trucking for Ren South he spent the last
few months in Island Fark before going into the Air Force. He had
enlisted in Evanston. It was October and I was out of  school for
the spud harvest. There had been an early shnowfall. We were
logaing betwesn the ranger station and the little flat next to
the road  to Simmons Ranch. The forest rvanger had sold  the old
lodgepole in bthat area to  Barney to saw for railvoad ties. Some
were large enough to make 4 ties. The entire stand were heavily
limbed, almost as much as fir. We had two tiers of 2x6°s  on the
truck and trailer. That way we hauled the 8 foobt logs end to end
and the semi. We were using the 37 Ford with the pole trailer
with the 10.00 x 20 tires.

Following high school Al had spent one year at Idaho State
College, Southern Branch (Now ISU) in Pocatello. Later he went to
Ficks, probably winter and spring guarters. Then he went out to
work for Ren after Barney and Charlie shut down their operations
at the mill and went off to work on defense programs. Bubt now
Barmey was back and running the mill. Rationing was in force. lHas
tires, sugar, etc. required using rationing stamps and books that
were issued by the government.

In Wyo. Al had been deferved by FRen as a critical needed
industry. A friend from I. F. (that Dad had met while working on
the temple as a laborer) had gone to Wyo. later to work for Een.
He and A1 had spent one winter cutting in the Mill Creek area.
They were snowed in. They had a cabin and supplies and went out
on snow shoes to cut. They probably cut mine props mostly. They
had 4o dig down with shovels to fell the trees. It was a slow
process and they barely worked enough during the cold harsh
winter to make vroom  and board. After this winter when Al would
show up in Evanston with a load of props he felt like a lobt of
pecple stared at him when he was in town. Many of course had kids
that had been drafted and wondered why he was running around and
their kids were off in the war. Both the European and FPacific
theaters were going heavy by this time. So one day he and Glenn
Harding decided to enlist. I think another factor was that Ren
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had two dauwghters. The oldest, Glenna had been dating Al some and
Jjust sort of a friendly association. She was near his age and
available when he was around. He could take her to town Lo a
movie. Then Gene Jones went out o work for Gene. He made a real
fuss over EHlenna and when REen got a new International truck, Gene
got it to drive. Al had been there longer working and had the old
Truck. GHlenna’s younger sister, Donna was my age, & years younger
than Al. %o she was in Jjr. high. Al commented later that she was
a great little gal. But young is right. 8o he felt he had no
incentive to stay there. Gene and his first wife separated and he
went  into the Navy soon after. He and Glenna were marrvied and
they spent some time together while he was in San Diego. They had
some  kind of housing. Then she went home with her parents while
he was assigned submarine duty in the Facific.

Al felt like he was going off to war and justified to live
it up a little before he left. 50 he went hunting. One night on
their way out of the woods just out of Trail Canyon a bull moose
crossed  the road and went up onto a little knoll at the edge of
the flat. It was by the old Van Noy place. They had taken a shot
at it. It ran off. It got dark and they hadn’t caught up to it.

They used to come in with a load and several people road on
top of the load of logs and 2 or 3 in the cab of the old Ford. So
the next morning he got me up and off we went before daybreak to
the knoll. Al and Warren were there and Faul Walker. Warren had
his old dog, Prince. He was part hound, fox hound I guess. He was
black and white and brown spotted. Warren had him on a leash and
cub thru the timber we went. It started to get daylight. Warren
went off one dirvection around the knoll and T was with Al going
another way. We hadn’t been hiking long when we heard shobs from
around the knoll. Fretty quick here came a moose lumbering thru
the woods. Warren got back away from it with Prince straining on
the leash. Then as it went past him he saw it had been wounded,
so he started shooting with his pea-shooter. (a sort of name we'’d
given it since he’d acquired it) He carrvied it with him in the
woods and to Fond’s when he went usually. It hadn’t been very
effective when it came to hunting game. (or bears)

8o he started blazing away at this moose. Fretty soon a
moose went crashing past a4l and 1. Warren and Al called to each
other. What's going an? It’'s been hit, Warren called to us. So
Al took a shot and it went down but was trying to get up. As 1
came around and over a little rise I saw it laying there with its
head turned over its back looking at me with the whites of its
eyves showing in the early morning light. I don’t know that up to
that point in my life I'd ever been that scared. I Just wanted
to be somewhere else. I would have liked to have been able to
disappear. Then someone came along and shot it again and it fell
but again kept trying to get up on its front legs. It moved to  a
point where its head was near a tree. Faul came up and put the
barrel of his 12 gauge about a foot from its head and fired. It
was shill alive after that. So someone said, Bernie shoot that
thing. So I took a shot at close range. I wasn’t as scared as I
had been when it was eye-balling me. That was the final shot that
put the poor thing out of its misery. I don’t recall they ever
found the bull that they had shot at the night before.



When they went back to quarter it and baul it out, which was
late in the day some fishermen came along and saw the Ford truck.
It was bob-tailed then. They told Barney they were stuck in a mud
hole up  the Split Creek Road., He said;, I have a crew of men
working nearby, I'11 go get some help and we’ll get you out. He
did go tell them to lay low and some went with him and they got
the fishermen out and on their way before they went back and
carried any of the meat out. They used to keep meat in a jackpine
thicket. They covered it in the daytime wrapped in old quilts or
sheets to keep the blow flies off. At night they hung it to air
out in the cool air. Rainy weather was hard on meat. It caused
spoilage, souring and molding.

One year I was in Island Park during the spud vacation and
Barney had left a double-bitted ax in the woods. He sent me to
get it. I had always hung around the horses. I had liked skidding
and riding any horse that was available. Barney had the mother of
Dick, a black Percheron mare. (hot likely a purebred) She
belonged to Dave Jones from Rigby and was called 01! Belle. I put
on her bridle ¢ work horse bridle with blinds) and started out
riding bareback. I crossed the flat east of the mill to the
corduroy where I cut through to the Chick Creek Foad.

I went past the little flat on that road and started up a
straight stretch just before a little pitch. Here the road takes
a turn to the left. I looked ahead and saw a cow, calf and bull
moose trotting out and it appeared they crossed the road, from
right to left. When I got to the end of the straight stretoch of
road I discovered they had hit the road there at the bend and so
they had actually gone up the road. At this point the road
changed to where there were deep ruts from years of use and rain
washing the soil away from the rocks. About 1/4 mile beyond this
point the road turned vight and went up a sidling place where it
was steeper and more rocky. The lower track had a sandy bottom
depogited from the run-off of the rocky pitch up ahead.

There was a real heavy stand of jackpines on the right hand
side part way up where the water pooled and ran off the road into
the brush and jackpines. When I got to this place the old mare
who had been shnorting along about every step since she had first
thrown her head in  the air at the sight of the moose began
snorbing more loudly and wouldn’t budge. I could not get her to
move forward. She’d keep turning back on me. She’d look off in
the direction of the jackpine thicket and snort. 8o 1 finally
gave up and went back to the mill. It was around 9:00 am when I
left the mill that morning. I was probably an hour from camp. I
was riding bareback with a work bridle with blinds on it.

After I got back to the house Barney had gone. I don't know
where he was. Marj was a little disappointed and figured I should
go back. I waited a few hours. It was a nice sunny day and I did
go back in the early afternoon and when I reached that place
vhere I'd seen the moose the old mare started to shnort  low but
she didn’t ballk at going on and even past the point where earlier
she’d refused to  even budge. In the sand I could see where their
tracks had gone off the road to the right and out through the
Jackpines toward a ridge covered with bushy jackpines and some
scattered tall pines sticking up among the young growth. Some
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places like where theiv tracks left the road have pines about 13
high but so thick that you have to work  your way through them by
turning sideways at times. (you literally weave your way thrud

Well I did find the ax. Barney was pretty geood about
remembering where he put things like that. 8o I got it and was on
my way home quite soon. It ended up a pleasant day; one to
remember.

One fall I was in Island Park during the spud vacation and a
friend of Barney’s and a customer as well, Dave Jones, from Rigby
had a grey saddle horse he called King. He'd had some cattle on
the Moon Meadow place and came up  on weekends to check on things
there so he decided +to leave the horse in the barn. He had left
it in the railroad stockyards. But as  the weather got colder he
decidecd to have Barney keep it in  the barn. Marj could saddle it
antd ride it whenever she wanted., 8o I got to ride him. [t was
fun for me to ride with a saddle. The only saddle I remember
that South’s  ever had was one that belonged to Ren. The first
yvear when I was up there, Barney saddled Ren’s old Dick and rode
aff to Black Mt. elk hunting. There was snow on the ground.

4s I rode out toward the railroad crossing standing looking
at me were three moose, cow and wcalf and a bull. It wasn’t
unusual to see 3 moose like that during the vut. They just stood
there a little while and trotted off. Une day when I was riding
ting around the camp my father told me when I was just sitting
and not going anyplace, Don’t sit around. Get out and go. When it
is cold a horse doesn’t want to  stand around. If you don’t get
him out moving around he may throw you. They want to move to keep
warm. I onece had & picture of this little grey horse. My dad
checked his mouth and he was about & yrs. old,

One fall when we were getting ready to load the horses to
haul to the wvalley we had the semi  backed into the stockyards
where someone had make a loading chute for trucks on the north
end. WE led the horses up from the barn and we looked out on the
flat toward Mt Sawtelle and there was a bull moose. He acted a
little strange. Usually they don’t pay much attention to people.
But he was holding his head high and looking us over pretty good.
Dad said maybe he'd been in a fight and lost and was sort of on
the prod. (ready to fight again) He finally trotted off.

One spring I came up to the mill on the train. There were a
lot of young people on the train headed for Yellowstone to  work
for the summer. After we passed Eccles Siding where ‘the train
whistled and crossed the Warm River it was only minubes until we
came to the two deep barvow pits on the edge of the flat. The
train whistled here also. I looked sut and loping out thru the
sagebrush on the west side of the track were three bull moose all
in velvet. They just loped along with their rvacks high in the air
looking back over their shoulders. Barney used to  say that when
he tracked moose he discovered they lope guite a bit.

As I came in from the woods one evening with Warrven in the
old Ford we saw a cow moosa on the flat about where the old Black
Mt. road meets the voad from the railroad crossing just south of
the old mill sebt. She was acting a little spooky out there on
the flat with no trees around her. She started towards the timber
by the old mill set. MWarren started pouring it on  in the old
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Ford and we maybe got up to about 40 by the time our paths
intersected with the moose. When she was quite close to the road
she broke into a dead run. She was determined we wouldn’t head
her off and we didn’t. Usually a wild animal will feel threatened
and turn back in a case like that it seems to me. Those were fun
times. On late summer we came out of Trail Canyon every night
for several nights in a row to find a large bull on the ridge
Just 20-30 yds from the road. He was large and had a good sized
rack. This timbered ridge was Jjust below what we called the Roclky
Dugway and a little below where the road forked; the other fork
continued straight up the draw that led about a half mile to
where it flattened oubty going to the right thru a gentle sloping
area with lots of huckleberry bushes and new growth timber (lots
of corral poles) to the bottom of the section & dugway. To the
left was the south end of what we called Huckleberry Hill. Going
over the top of this hill to the east one could get onto the top
where the old cook shack was located. (It may have been called
Camp B-2.) There were two cabins there. One had the roof
repaired where it had caved in. The other half was still caved
in. It was thought Ed Ryberg had fixed it up and used it during
the winter trapping season as a line cabin.

Oecasionally we'ld see a moose near the old well about a half
mile below this ridge where a road went off to the south and down
another draw that came out above the head of Warm River near the
mouth of Clark Canyon. Just to the south of the flat there was
the old Clark place. A& homestead which had been bought out by two
Utah millionaires, Stimson and Malan. There was a burn  on the
sicde of Black Mountain., Whenever you went up Trail Canyon you
passed by the edge of a small flat making the burn very visible.

Often in the spring of the vear (June) we would walk up the
railroad tracks to Tom's DOreek. Sometimes we wouldn’t make it
back to the siding before the Yellowstone Flyer would come down.
We'd stand aside as it went past and see the red light on  the
back shinning with its figure eight pattern going. The kids would
often walk on the rails as far as they could without falling off.
I don't know what gauge track it was but it was a main track and
kids with small feet could run quite a long ways without falling
off. Also weld walk aon  the ends of the ties Jjust outside the
rails and they were not evenly spaced, making it awkward walking.
You could walk down the middle much better as the cinders, sand
and gravel were built up nearly flush with the ties. Many ties
were old enough  that yvou could see they had been hand hewn and
some were mnuch wider than the ones more recently placed there.
The sections crews worked each summer and removed ties as they
robted and all the new bties were nearly black from being dipped
in creosote and oil vats. Almost all of the older ties all had
special spikes (about 2 inches long) nailed into then near one
el with the year embossed on the 374 in. heads. 0On some of the
older ones that were quite weathered and checked you could pull a
loose spike out with your fingers. There were usually some laying
around in cupboard drawers or shelves in the warehouse or engine
shed where they aften ended up.

One spring, Berdett, I and Jim Taylor, a friend of Berdett
went up to the creek after supper. We went in Rerdett’s 08 Ford
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Coupe. He drove along the road that paralleled the track. There
was a barrow pit also that ran along the track that had water
standing in it in the early spring and summer. The right of way
was wleared with a telephone line along the side of the barrow
pit one the opposite side from the tracks. Then the timber was
cleared another 10-15 feet so  that the width of the right-of-way
was maybe 30-40 feet. Most of the way the timber bordered it in a
straight line. Some jackpines as tall as 10 feet had not been
cleared but for the most part they were ocut down so  that only
about 3-4 foot ores were growing along the sides.

There were about three places where the road was interrvupted
by the grade of the track. Two of these had signs placed by the
railroad along the side of the track. & sign showing a grade
crossing ahead and another was a mileage sign. At  these places
the road had to detour around the sign posts. Drivers of cars had
driven around the edge of the signs until they had worn the grade
of the trackage away to the point that the road was very sidling
there. The railvoad company had extended some ties out to one
side to prevent drivers from wearing down the banks of the built
up road bed. At a few such places the road crossed the barrow pit
and when it was early spring driving thru was like a driving thru
a bog., Also it was deep enough that wabter could get up into the
engine. Berdett would usually pour it on at  these crossings and
his car would splash thru. If it ever stalled it was already out
the other side because of the momentum he built up before driving
into the water. It wasn’t unusual in  the spring of the year to
have fishermen come to the mill asking o have someone come tow
them out of the mud hole.

Jim and I took our fishing ftackle along this particular
evening. We sat on the bridge and attempted to catch a fish.
There are some fish below the bridge but seldom are any caught
there. The narrow channel is deep underneath the bridge. It
spreads out above and below. The stream bed is over 100 feet wide
from bank to bank above the bridge. But the side are very shallow
out to the channel which varies from 10-15 feet. There are
cccasional holes in the main channel. It generally has a light
sandy stream bed. Between the main channel and the bank the
bottam is very muddy and boggy. Vegetation grows there and blood
suckers are numerous. About 200-300 yds. up stream there was a
large beaver dam with a pond above it.

As we sat on the bridge fishing we looked upstream and saw a
monse in the creek. It had come in from the timber on the south
bank. It was feeding on aquatic plants in the shallow water and
made its way across the creek and finally disappeared into the
timber on the opposite side of the creek. It was dusk by now and
when it crossed against the timber we could hardly see it. It had
never paid any attention to us. After about 5-10 minutes we
looked up the tracks and saw it silhouetted against the sky as it
crossed  over the tracks to  the north headed west. Again it
disappeared against the backdrop of pines along the creek bed to
the narth. About 5 more minutes and it appeared below us only
about 60-75 yards in the creek where we could see it against the
apen lighted water where it was wading. It began crossing the
stream toward the south. Jim and I had not  even had a bite and
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started to reel in our line and put owr tackle away when Berdett
said. Well I?'11 see you at the car and he began to jog down along
the side of the ties toward the south. (direction on his car and
the mill....a distance of one milel) We finished putting up our
lines and hooks and started walking toward the car. I had a small
flashlight in one hand.

When we had gone about 50 yards suddenly the willows against
the right of way only 8-12 feet from where we were walking began
to wave and shake., We let out hollers and I remember pointing my
fishing pole in the direction of motion and shaking it at the
same btime as I aimed my little light in the same general
dirvection., Well it burned out  that Berdett had waited there in
the willows to catch us by surprise which he did. When we got to
his car which was by a small meadow about 3-400 yards from the
bridge my legs were still shaking. I  have probably never been
that scared before or since. Then Berdett admitted that crouched
down in the willow bush waiting for us he got pretty nervous
also. He had picked a spot  about the same distance from the
bridge as the moose had been from the bridge as it circled us on
the last two sightings. After we drove to the mill I was still
shaking. My voluntary muscles were still in action. The adrenalin
really ran that night.

One summer we drove up to Island Park to fish below the
Coffee Fot Rapids on the Snake River just above the reservoir.
Mom came with us. Warren and Caraol were there. We used to pull
into a small clearing at the end of a road which was only 2 tire
tracks winding thru the trees and ending at a level spot above
the river where the trees were sparse enough to create parking
for a dozen cars. By climbing down over steep rocks on a trail
made by years of use by fishermen you could reach the river &0
feet below. It was an even harder olimb out, over boulders
Jutting out of the nearly vertical canyon wall. 2-300 yards down
astream there was a rock slide from the rim to the river.

From this point on the river there were ftrails upstream
around boulders and over windfalls to the rapids about 300 yds.
Where the trail ended at the bank the river was shallow enough to
wade in hip boots. When Al and I first went there we would wade
across in our jeans and tennis shoes. I usually stayed next to
dad and held onto his bib overalls. When mom crossed with us she
would stay next to dad and I next to her, each clinging to the
other. One time Warren took Carol across piggy-back. The biggest
problem in crossing was not so much the depth or swiftness of the
current, but the slipperiness of the rocks. The bottom was
covered with rounded rocks. You had to put each foot down and
move it around until you got it into  a spot between rocks and
made sure that it wasn’t on  the top of a slippery rock. As  we
crossed here we could see the entirve bottom of the river move. It
was actually the light colored tails and fins of the schools of
whitefish that were there below the rapids as they moved around
you as you waded across. On the opposite bank a small stream came
into the river with tall willows along it. One day a cow and calf
moose came out  from the willows and crossed the river about 100
yards below us. Warren had his camera and took a picture of them.
He had it blown up into an 8x10 and colored. (It was a black and
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white negative.. in the good old days...enlargements were often
tinted by hand in  photo shops. It was tedious, a bit
expensive..but guite popular)

Warren may have had two photos enlarged. One belonged to the
folks and hung on their living room wall for many years. The
first winter at Ricks I took an art class and made a large
charcoal drawing from it with the two moose with detail showing
the bell of the cow hanging against the reflection of the light
in the middle of the stream. It was tiny detail, pleasing to me.

That was exciting. It was one of the first times I'd seen a
monse that clogse, CQuite a few years later as Dad and I were
fishing on  the Buffalo River downstream from where we usually
parked the car we looked up to see a cow feeding in  the river.
She had just entered the river near where we were Tishing not far
from a small island. There were twi calves with her. They
followed her out into the shallow sides where there was a lot of
water—kress and other aguatic plants. We were a little concerned
since the calves showed no caution and we wondered if they would
come too close to us and excite her. At first they almost came
out between us and the cow. We fished guietly on down the stream
and later when we came back they were gone, of course.

One fall Dad was driving the Federal, Warren the Ford coming
out from Ripley Butte when two bull moose came out of the woods
onto a small clearing. They stopped and watched. Warren told me
about it. One bull looked like a good sized bull. One you might
regularly see...full grown. The other seemed enormous along side
the smaller one. It seemed like a freak of nature. (massive)

In 19%6 1 worked in Island Fark and didn’t attend school in

the fall term. Barry and I both put in for the moose hunt  in
Island Fark. The drawing for moose had only been going on less
than half a dozen years. We both drew that year. It was one of

the most exciting yvears of hunting in my 1life.

Barry was sixteen this year. We went out road hunting Jjust
looking things over to see if we could laocate any moose. (On one
trip we went on the Chick Creek road o the corduroy and up the
old voad just beyond the little clearing to the end of the
straight stretch of road where ['d seen the 3 moose while riding
old Bell on the trip after the ax. He we parked and walked south
over a low ridge. One fall several years hefore Barney had
stopped there and walked over this ridge. He spotted a coyote and
followed it and came to  the meadow below the Skinnerville. There
was a sizeable lake there partially covered with water lily pads.
He had never seen this lake before. Below the lake which spanned
the entire width of the little meadow was several acres of mostly
dry grass. There were ducks there at times.

On  this day Al was with us. We were viding in his *40
Chrysler. We walked out to the edge of the timber and carefully
up to  the bank. We didn't see a moonse but a buck deer was
feeding in the tall grass close to the other side of the meadow.
& small stream flowed along the edge next to the bank where we
were standing. It was about like a ditch. I had my camera and had
it up and focused on the buck. I took one snapshot and was just
getting ready to take a second picture when two rifles barked as
one. Al had signaled to Barry to  shoot at the same time. s 1
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lomked thru the viewfinder no deer was in sight. I don’t remember
if we skirted the meadow on foot or if we drove around to the
abther side. Bubt we cut its throat and drew the carcass and left
it. & small plane flew over the edge of the flat while we were
there. But we had pulled the dear off the meadow and into  the
treses before it flew overhead. But things like that always make
you  wonder. In some years past  Barney wouldn’t  have given a
second thought to gedtting a deer when it was that easy.

Barney was gone now however, and Marj was pretty upset when
we got home and she heard about it. Later in  the evening we went
back with the car on the flat side of the meadow and loaded it in
Al?s trunk. He took it to the valley. He was working for  the
post office at this time.

About a week later Barry and I were out scouting for moose
sign when we started up an old road onto Black Mt. from just
below the Clark Canyon Road above the head of Warm River. We had
walked for about 20 minutes and were climbing this fairly steep
slope right at the edge of the road the mountain dropped off all
the way to the bottom on the hill., We were guite a ways abuove the
stream when we stopped to get our wind., As we started on I saw a
cow elk  stand up just off to ouwr  left which was on the uphill
side of the road. She was only about 30 years from us. She hadn't
seen us yet. When she did see us she didn’t act startled. Then a
cal f stood up. There was a fair stand of timber there and a lot
af hucklebervry and other shrubs on  the hillside. We stood and
looked at them for a little while and then they Jjust moved off.
As soon as we started to walk again we looked ahead to see a bull
cross the road above us maybe 100 feet. He was mature and had a
full rack though not a large rack. He was pretty as most of them
are. Barrvy pulled up the 300 Savage and looked at it thru the
soop as it stood there broadside to us. He didn’t fire. I
suppose he might have had the courage to shoot had it not been
fr the great amount of displeasure Marj had shown earlier about
the buck deer incident. 8o we watched the bull amble away and
over the sidehill at a point where the road turned and the
steeprness of the incline flattened out a bit. It was not more
than 2-3 days until the general elk hunt would open.

On a subsequent day Barry and I were driving aut on the flat
towards Black Mt. on the old logging road where Ren South hauled
fir when we saw a lone cow moose. The moose Season wWas now  open
and we drove along the road to a point where we could see her up
close. 100 yds or less. She took off running. We were in their
ald 46  Chev 2 dr. sedan. Barry was driving. He drove fast
enough to get to a perimeter rvoad and headed down it and headed
her off 8o she couldn?t get into the timber. We keplt doing that
and kept her on  the flat for gquite a while. SBhe was getting
pretty spookecd. Finally Barry decided to pass her up. He did want
to get a bull so he could have a rack.

After several more days hunting and not seeing anything,
Barrvy began to wonder 1if he’d made a mistake by passing up this
lone cow. Marj had let him miss school that weel: o hunt. David
had stayed in school. With a few days left before the hunt ended
Barry was getting a little nervous. We took off one day toward
Ecoles in the Chev and just before we reached the timber we saw a
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cow moose cross the road in front of us maybe a good 1/4 mile
ahead of us. Then we saw a bull ambling along in  the sagebrush
behind her. He was following several hundred yards. When we got
closer they both crossed the railvoad and the road we were on and
the cow took off in high gear. She seemed so spooked we wondered
if she was the same one we had seen a few days before and chased
around the flat. After crossing the road they kept on a course on
across the flat toward the far side. S0 we turned around and
Barry went back to the mill where I jumped out. He headed out on
the Black Mt. Road across the middle of the flat. I jumped in my
Mercury and picked up Marj, her kids Randy and Susan were there
with her arcund the washing machine. I drove back down the
Focoles Road as fast as I could. I said. Come on, we've going to
go see Barry get his moose. We got about 1 1/2 miles down the
road in time to  see the cow moose cross the Black ME Road in
front of Barry. Then the bull not in as big of a hurry as the
cow kept ambling along in the sagebrush behind the cow, on a slow
trot. Barry got within about 75 yds of where the cow crossed Uhe
road and  stopped. Opened his door and took a rest over the open
door and shot. We saw the bull go  down. We drove back around and
we got the bull’s throat cut and all headed back to the mill., We
took the army truck, hooked a drag on the back and headed back
ot onto the flat. We were able to roll the moose onto the drag.
It was a mature bull. It didn’t have a large rvack but a good one.

We pulled the drag near Dad’s cabin. He we were able to get
a block and tackle and put a gamble on it’s hind legs and hoisted
it up between two trees on a house log fastened across between
the trees that had been used for a swing for guite a few years.
We used it for deer and elk and now a moose. It was the Znd moose
this season.

Ghout the first day the moose hunt was  open Al came up and
brought Dad. We all headsd up to the bottom of Trail Canyon.
There used to be an old road out of Trail Canyon that we used
when we hauled with the wagon that came out just above Gthe Clark
place. Down below the timber there was gquite a large opening
mostly covered with sage. Then the road crossed another road
that circled the flat. Here we turned to the right or north and
went to some old cabins and a barn. This was known as the Van Noy
place. In Targhee Tie days they had a pond there and some Canada
Geese in the pond. Later Barney had fiene take his cat and they
graded the road on the upper end near the edge of the flat and
into the timber. He straightened the road out  and went straiaght
past the cabins and into the timber. This cut out quite a bit off
the bends of the old road. Stinpson’s had put up Jjack fence
across the old roads crossing their land to keep fishermen and
hunters out. At the lower end of trail canyon the water table was
near the surface and for years Charlie and Barney had hauled out
of there fighting mud holes. More than once Charlie had some of
his crew get stuck in nmud puddles there and walk into camp. He
had one truck with a tag tandem. The drive line only went to the
front duals, so when they got  into these mud holes and the rear
tandems held up the weight the front ones would only spin and
left them helpless.

Su Barney ocut a new road to the north and kept over on
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higher ground and bypassed these bad places on the road. A little

ways down from where this new road intersected the old there was
a road that went off toward Clark Canyon which was one ridge to
the south of Trail Canyon. This entire area was boggy in the

spring especially. One fall Al and I went thru there while

hunting and discovered a sizeable spring. We couldn’t believe it.

Dad hadn't been aware of a spring being there. It had to be an

unusually wet fall. There was a sound bottom to the spring,
showing that it had been a water course before. But maybe the

earthguake a few years before had something to do with this
spring suddenly running a heavy amount. Below the spring, water

ran down the track of the old road to the small sagebrush flat
where it disappeared.

Years before a ditch had been made to divert wabter from the
lower end of 8plit Creek across to the two homesteads. Then
Souths had made a ditch that came down from Van Noy's to the old
mill set. After it burned down they sent the water on down to the
new mill set for use in the steam engine. It usually took
several days each spring to get water across the gravelly and dry
flat to the mill. There were bridges at the mill over the ditch.
It ram out near the siding and towards Tom'’s Creek  where it
usually stood in  the barrow pit. It made a great place for
tadpoles and dragon flies. There was even a car bridge covered
with slabs so that a truck could back up to the track where the
Jensen Dairy could unleoad their milk cans onto the baggage car of
the train. Barry and David crossed a foot bridge to get back and
forth to the mill when they were little. After Charlie brought in
a diesel engine the ditch was not used for several seasons. When
Harney began using the steamer again he just dug a well next to
the engine shed and it furnished water without the hassle of

keeping water in the ditch. Then one year every one started
complaining about  having sore mouths and gums. It was  finally
attributed to the well water. Someone decided that the excess

water from the engine running down thru the wood ashes at the
rear of the engine shed near the firebox was like making lye. The
seepage of this into the well was causing this trouble. After a
new well was dug between Barney’s house and the siding the
problem was solved. The well by the engine also furnished water
for the shower house which was just newt to the rear of the shed.

Stimsons and Malan kept the ditch running inside the timber
taking water to their places. Charley Simmons kept a small stream
running to his place on the flat where he kept a little over an
acre of pasture grass green. His Mexican wife, Mary had a small
pond with goldfish in it.

Now back to the moose hunt. Below the spring mentioned
above the grass was green in the timber and the ground was quite
boggy and spongy in places. It was sort a lot of subwater near
the surface. The nearer to the flat, the drier the ground. So we
left the car and started out hunting. I had our 30/30 Winchester
carbine. Dad stayed with me. Al went off in another direction. We
were all expecting to sort of cruise the area in hopes of coming
onto something. Dad and [ hadn’t walked far when I saw a moose.
It was a black one. It appeared to be feeding slowly moving along
turning from side to side. I said to Dad. Is it a cow? It would



tuwrn and then I'd see an antler, plain as could be. Then it would
turn and I couldn’t see an antler. It was in rather heavy timber,
no underbrush, however so I could see plainly between the trees.
Finally I decided to shoot. Dad was standing just a few feet
from me and slightly behind. I shot and the moose started walking
toward me at an aoblique angle. As it continued to walk T kept
shooting every time I could get a spot between trees to fire and
it kept coming withoubt apparently being influenced by the sound
af the shots in front of it. I shot 4 or 5 shots. 1 was shooting
at the neck. Finally it went down. UWhen we got wup to it we
discovered the reason for confusion on being a cow or a bull. One
antler was missing. It did fall with one antler up fortunately
for my camera Sess5iof.

Al was there in a few minutes. He hadn’t been far away and
when he heard that many shots fired he just walked to us. We
went back to the mill and got the 6 x & and drove out to the
kill. After cutting a couple of trees with the chain saw we
backed into the moose and with the aid of a few poles were able
to roll it up the back onto the truck and hauled it to Dad’s
cabin where we hoisted it wp on the swing pole by the cabin and
dressed it out. It turned out that it was about a 3 yr ald. The
folks put it in a freezer at a storage vental and bottled some of
it. It was choice meat. It was in good shape, moose don’t carry
a lot of fat. It was young enough to be tender.

I was surprised how a moose lying down appears so narrow and
the color appears like a German police dog. That seems like a
funny comparison I know, I had the hide tanned. I kept the head.
At USU I worked on the head. I stuck it into the Bear River west
of lLogan on a long piece of baling wire and after several months
the agquatic insects stripped the bones of the skull of meat and
sinew and then later bleached out. It was a strange display since
the one antler which appeared to have broken off when it was new
had grown down near the back of the eye into a stub. It also may
have resulted in my getting so close to the moose without it
seeing me. From that side and to the rear it would not have seen
me. So it may have been part of the reason for his demise.

When we took Barry’s moose to the locker in 1.F. we stopped
at a trailer in Ashton which was the checking station. 1 went in
with Barry to check his moose. The guy asked. Is it a cow or a
bull? I said. A cow, or is it a bull? Barry looked at me like
what are you saying? Then I asked the guy. Do cows have horns? I
guess the aguy thought we were real dudes. Barry must have
wondered what was going on with me. I guess we convinced him it
did have a rack. Then we gobt pictures of the head on the drag
with Susan, Randy and Cocoa, the Cocker Spaniel. We got a picture
of both heads along side of each other.

After I was teaching at Provo we held a seminar for the Fish
and Game Department one fall just before the deer hunt. While
their personnel were all together they held a session the last
day covering mouthing deer for aging to familiarize themselves
with the technigque prior to the hunt. $Ho I took the head from my
apartment to school to  check on its age. It was ruled a 3 yr.
old. Then LaVar Ware the regional supervisaor coaxed me into
letting them have it. I asked that they put it on display at
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their district headquarters in Frovo. They agreed to that. But a
few years later when I inquired about it they couldn®t find it
anywhere and said they searched their back room  and everywhere
and could never come up with it. I was disappointed about this. 1
wish now that I had possession of it. It was just unusual.
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